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“I’m not a poor man.  I didn’t need the money.  I’m doing it because (what BMW did) is wrong.”

· Dr. Ira Gore

In January of 1990, Dr. Ira Gore went to German Auto, Inc., a car dealership in Birmingham, Alabama, and told the sales associates that he wanted to buy a new car.  There he purchased a black 1990 BMW 535i for $40,750.88.  A four-door luxury sedan with leather interior, the BMW 535i boasted a 3.4-liter 6-cylinder 208 horsepower engine.  The car had been marketed by BMW as the “ultimate driving machine,” having “flawless body panels” which maintain “their original luster.”   To Dr. Gore, the car appeared “fast and youthful”—an image he wanted to project, since, at the time, he was feeling more middle-aged.
 

Upon purchase, Dr. Gore was asked to sign a “Retail Buyer’s Order” and an “Acknowledgment of Disclosure.”  The documents asked Dr. Gore to acknowledge that the car might be damaged, that he had inspected it, and that he agreed to accept it.  Dr. Gore saw his shiny new vehicle, liked what he saw, and presumably understood what he was being asked to sign.  A cancer specialist, Dr. Gore had graduated from Harvard College and Duke Medical School.  After signing the documents and completing the transaction, he became the proud owner of the brand new BMW.

Dr. Gore drove his new BMW for nine months without noticing anything unusual about the car.  During this time, he was satisfied with the car’s appearance.  But in order to make the car look “snazzier than it normally would appear,” Dr. Gore took the car to Slick Finish, an independent automotive detailing shop, also located in Birmingham.  Dr. Gore had taken other cars to the shop before, and was impressed with the quality of the work.
   According to Dr. Gore, Leonard Slick, an auto detailing expert and the shop’s proprietor, “does more than the average cleaning job … [he makes the car look] like it’s brand new.”
  

While detailing Dr. Gore’s BMW, Slick noticed a three or four-inch tape line on the rear fender of the car.  The tape line was not conspicuous and probably could not have been detected by an untrained eye.  Reasoning that a tape line could not have resulted from the manufacturer’s painting process, Slick concluded that the car must have been partially refinished.  

When Dr. Gore returned to Slick Finish, Slick greeted him with the bad news.  Dr. Gore was shocked.  He thought that the car “looked great” and wanted to know what this meant—whether the quality of the refinishing work was comparable to that of the manufacturer’s original painting process and what effect it had on the car.
  Slick did nothing to alleviate Dr. Gore’s fears.  He told Dr. Gore that the car would appear to be five years old within two years, and he suggested that Dr. Gore sue.
  

Perhaps one reason that Slick noticed that Dr. Gore’s BMW had been refinished was because Slick was on the lookout.  A few months earlier, Slick had noticed that a BMW owned by Slick’s friend, Dr. Thomas Yates, had also been refinished.
  After borrowing Slick’s truck while his BMW was being detailed, Dr. Yates told Slick that the front-end of his truck needed to be worked on.
  Slick replied, “Well the truck is better than your brand new BMW that has been wrecked and repainted.”

Dr. Yates contacted his cousin—a lawyer by the name of Andrew W. Bolt II.
  According to Bolt, upon learning his BMW had been refinished, Dr. Yates was “mad as a wet hen.”
  Together they filed a complaint against BMW.  In doing so, Dr. Yates rejected BMW’s offer to give him a brand new car.

Knowing that his friend, Dr. Yates, had hired Bolt to sue BMW, Slick recommended that Dr. Gore do the same.
  Although Dr. Gore replied that he already had lawyers, Slick was not dissuaded.  Slick stated, “I’m sure that you do.  But I’m sure that they’re all doctor’s lawyers.”
  Dr. Gore then heeded Slick’s advice.  Without ever contacting BMW to make a complaint, he sought Bolt’s legal counsel.  Dr. Gore later stated that at the time he “wanted to be paid for [his] losses and [he] didn’t want them to do it again.”
 

The Process

To understand what happened to Dr. Gore’s BMW, it is first important to appreciate the way title is transferred as BMWs travel from the plant at which they are manufactured to their final purchaser.  BMWs are manufactured in Germany at Bayerische Motoren Werke, A.G. (BMW AG) and then sold to distributors.  One such distributor is BMW North America (BMW NA), the distributor that received Dr. Gore’s BMW 535i.  BMW NA then sold Dr. Gore’s car to the Alabama dealer German Auto, Inc.


As each BMW makes its physically long journey from the manufacturer into the hands of the final consumer, it is easy to appreciate that any particular BMW might sustain some form of damage.  Indeed, such damage is not uncommon.  Although the damage may consist of a dent or a scratch to the car’s exterior, the environment to which BMWs are subjected during their journey also poses dangers to them.  One such environmental danger is acid rain.  Acid rain damage can occur to the BMWs that are placed on the deck of the ships transporting them to the United States, since soot from passing ships sometimes falls on them, mixes with rainwater, and creates an acid that eats through the car’s finish.
  To prevent acid rain damage, BMW NA previously placed Cosmoline, a Vaseline-type substance, on the exposed surfaces of the BMWs.
 Cosmoline, however, was both expensive to apply and environmentally unfriendly, since once it was applied to a car’s surface it could only be removed with kerosene.
  For that reason, in 1989, BMW decided to ship one hundred cars to the United States without Cosmoline and run the risk of those cars receiving damage due to acid rain.
  Any damaged BMWs were to be repaired at pre-existing BMW NA vehicle preparation centers (VPC)—facilities that prepared incoming BMWs for dealer delivery by inspecting the BMWs for damage sustained during transport from Germany and then repairing the damage itself or sending the BMW to an independent contractor. 
  

Although BMW NA decided to ship one hundred cars without Cosmoline, somehow the number was accidentally transposed to one thousand.
  Alas, Dr. Gore’s BMW was one of the thousand BMWs shipped without the use of Cosmoline, and indeed acid rain was fingered as the culprit for the damage his car.
  Due to the error, the VPC technicians “had to all of a sudden become car painting experts,” and Dr. Gore’s car was repainted at the VPC in Brunswick, Georgia.
  Since title transferred to BMW NA when the cars left Germany, the car belonged to BMW NA, and the repairs were its responsibility.


The VPC’s refinishing process began with the removal of the car’s moldings and emblems.  The car was then cleaned with silicone and dirt remover.  A wet sander was applied to the car’s exterior, and afterward a technician removed the rest of the damage through his own sanding.       


After being sanded, the car was once again cleaned with silicone and dirt remover.  Masking tape was applied to mark off the affected surfaces and the car was placed in a paint booth.  After being wiped down for a third time, air pressure was used to blow the car dry, and the entire panel where the damage was located was painted and baked until hard.  The paint booth was unique in that it constantly filtered the air and forced air down from the ceiling to reduce the amount of dust in that area.  In addition, heat and humidity levels were also controlled within the painting booth.  After the paint was dry, the vehicle was inspected to make sure that all the damage had been removed.  

The result of this process was the virtual non-detectability of the previous damage by the average consumer.  But this non-detectability did not mean that the paint process undergone by a refinished BMW was the same as the process used by the manufacturer.  Whereas straight enamel paint was electrostatically applied in the original paint procedure, spray-on acrylic-based paint was used at the VPC.   The VPC used acrylic-based paint because it dried at a low temperature.  Enamel paint dried at a much higher 285 degrees, and this would have melted some of the metal components of an already assembled car. 

The quality of the VPC refinishing process would prove to be a point of contention between Dr. Gore and BMW NA.  According to BMW NA, the VPC process resulted in a level of quality that was identical to the quality produced at the BMW AG manufacturing plant.  According to Dr. Gore, Leonard Slick, and his attorneys, the VPC process was inferior and resulted in the BMW’s finish eventually fading, chipping, and appearing worn in an uneven fashion.  On Dr. Gore’s BMW, the top, hood, trunk, and quarter panels were all refinished. 

The Policy


Like the average consumer, Dr. Gore did not realize that the BMW he bought had been refinished.  His car appeared to him to be undamaged, and he was also never told.  His experience was similar to that of many other consumers, since BMW NA’s policy was that if the cost of repairing the damage was less than three percent of the manufacturer’s suggested retail price (MSRP), then BMW NA did not disclose to either the dealer or the final customer that the car had been repaired.  Since the cost of refinishing Dr. Gore’s BMW was $601.37, 1.5% of the MSRP, BMW NA never disclosed to German Auto or Dr. Gore that portions of his BMW had been repainted.  Later, Daniel Doot, a paint expert employed by BMW NA, estimated that $150 to $175 had gone into the materials used to paint Dr. Gore’s BMW, and the rest was the cost of labor.
  

If the cost of repair exceeded three percent of the MSRP, BMW NA would place the car in company service and drive it either six months or ten thousand miles.  Afterward, it would be sold to a dealer at an auction as a used car.  This policy, adopted in 1983, applied nationwide.  According to BMW NA, the policy was adopted after researching the laws of other states, with the threshold for disclosure set in compliance with the most restrictive state statute of the time.
 

The Complaint

Andrew W. Bolt, the managing partner of Bolt, Isom, Jackson, and Bailey, a law firm located in Anniston, Alabama, took Dr. Gore’s case for a fifty-percent contingency fee.
  On behalf of Dr. Gore, he filed a complaint against German Auto, BMW AG, and BMW NA.
  In his complaint, Dr. Gore alleged that their failure to disclose that his BMW was refinished constituted, among other things, fraudulent suppression of a material fact.  He asked for five hundred thousand dollars in compensatory and punitive damages, along with costs. 

Prior to the complaints filed by Dr. Yates and Dr. Gore, BMW NA had never been sued over its failure to disclose that a BMW had been refinished.
  According to David Cordero, BMW NA’s corporate counsel, the case attacked the integrity and reputation of the company.
  For that reason, Cordero stated that it was a “a bet your company type of case.”
  Bolt later stated that when one deals with a multi-national and multi-billion dollar company such as BMW NA “you know that they are going to fight fiercely.  You know that they’re not going to surrender.  You know that they’re not going to admit they’ve done wrong, and roll over and write you a check.”
  

The Trial

In June of 1992, Dr. Gore’s case was tried in Jefferson County Circuit Court with the honorable P. Wayne Thorn presiding.  Bolt represented Dr. Gore along with John Haley, a partner at Hare, Wynn, Newell, and Newton, whose firm Bolt had associated to aid him in Dr. Gore’s representation.
  Michael Quillen, a graduate of Duke Law School and a partner at Walston, Stabler, Wells, Anderson, & Bains, a law firm located in Birmingham, Alabama, represented BMW NA and BMW AG, along with Samuel M. Hill, an associate at the same firm and a graduate of the University of Michigan School of Law.
  Dr. Gore was not present throughout much of the trial, and in the times of his absence the judge informed the jury that he was attending to sick patients.

From the outset, both parties argued over what law applied to the case.  Whereas Dr. Gore’s lawyers argued to the trial court judge that the doctrine of fraudulent suppression applied, BMW argued that the case was a warranty claim.
  In support of its contention that the case was a warranty claim, BMW argued that it had never represented to the public that its cars were perfect and that by providing consumers with a warranty it acknowledged that there might be a defect.
  This was an important argument for BMW to win.  If Quillen were successful, he would prevent the jury from considering whether BMW committed fraud, which has the potential for punitive damages, and shift the focus to whether BMW breached its warranty, a claim that does not carry the possibility of punitive damages.  But the trial court judge refused to view the case in that light, and would not even allow the warranty into evidence.
  

In support of his fraudulent suppression claim, Dr. Gore’s counsel was able to make a powerful argument to the jury.  Bolt “told the story of an arrogant company that didn’t care what the rules in America were, because the rules in America did not allow BMW to do what it put in its written policy” and that the plan was “hatch[ed]” so that “nobody could know out here in consumerland [what they were doing].”
  As evidence, Dr. Gore relied upon his own testimony, the testimony of a former owner of German Auto, the testimony of previous customers that had encountered the same problem, and work orders indicating the number of refinished BMWs sold to consumers without disclosure.  

Before discussing this testimony, it is first helpful to understand that the doctrine of fraudulent suppression is a statutory creation, codified by Alabama in 1907.  The statute states that “suppression of a material fact, which the party is under an obligation to communicate, constitutes fraud.  The obligation to communicate may arise from the confidential relations of the parties, or from the particular circumstances of the case.”

Dr. Gore’s testimony appears to have been offered as evidence of the materiality of knowing whether a BMW has been refinished.  Dr. Gore testified that he bought his BMW without being told that the car had been refinished and “with the expectation that it was an undamaged vehicle.”  He also testified that he had been attentive to “what [he] was going to have to pay for the car” and “would not have bought it at that price” had he known it was repainted.  His testimony that he “was disgusted” when he found out the truth and that he “felt [he] had been cheated and misled by the people who were supposed to be selling [him] a new car,” was further evidence that such knowledge would have impacted his decision to buy it.

Dr. Gore also presented testimony that refinishing a BMW diminishes its value.  This testimony came from Penny Rivers, a former BMW owner, and John Cox, the owner of German Auto.  Cox testified that a refinished BMW was worth at least ten percent less than a BMW that had not been refinished and that, as a dealer, he would want to know such information.  Rivers claimed that her BMW also had been refinished and it lowered the trade-in value of her car.  This testimony supported Dr. Gore’s contention that refinishing a BMW is material information.  
According to Bolt, Rivers was a “powerful witness.”
  At the time, she was in her early thirties, a single mother with two kids, and employed by a railroad company where she performed physical labor in a profession that was predominately populated by men.
  She testified that she had first noticed that her BMW was refinished when she saw that the paint on her BMW was discoloring and peeling around the quarter-hole of her car’s gas tank.
  Rivers claimed that she had tried to trade-in her BMW at a BMW dealership, but that the dealer had refused, telling her that he had another car similar to hers on his lot.
  After checking the lot, Rivers testified that, contrary to the dealer’s claim, he did not have such a car, which indicated to her that he simply did not want a refinished BMW.
  Frustrated, Rivers testified that she ended up trading-in her BMW at a Nissan dealership where the dealer told her that he was giving her less money for her car because of the its damage.
            

Although Rivers’s testimony supports Dr. Gore’s claim, Quillen later questioned whether her testimony was credible.
  He speculated that she might have really traded in her BMW because she had overextended herself—a claim that is supported by the fact that she traded in her BMW for a Nissan Maxima.
 In addition, her motive for testifying was also suspect, since she later filed a similar lawsuit against BMW NA where she was represented by Bolt’s firm, and perhaps hoped to have a better bargaining position if Dr. Gore’s case was successful.
  Regardless of these credibility problems, however, Rivers’ testimony was ultimately difficult for BMW to rebut, since BMW did not have her car, did not know the real value of the damage, or have knowledge of her negotiation tactics.
  According to Hill, “all we could really do was challenge her on her credibility.”
 

To support his claim that the refinished panels wear differently than those with the original applied at the manufacturing plant, Dr. Gore also presented his own car and the car of another BMW owner, Chris Goode, as evidence.
  According to Bolt, although only an expert could tell that Dr. Gore’s BMW had been refinished at the time of purchase, by the time of the trial, “it was obvious.”
  Presumably, the jury also saw the difference when it left the courtroom to examine both vehicles.

To show a “pattern and practice” of engaging in reprehensible conduct for punitive damage purposes, Dr. Gore offered the testimony of other BMWs owners.  Unlike Rivers, these witnesses did not file actions against BMW after the trial.  One such owner was James Scarfo.  He testified that his BMW had also been refinished and sold to him without disclosure. Scarfo testified that he had made approximately twenty calls to BMW but was only able to speak to the secretary of a BMW representative.  Deciding to seek legal counsel in order “to put a bit of pressure on to get something done,” Scarfo hired an attorney who wrote two letters to BMW, but no response was received.  Unable to continue to pay an attorney, Scarfo gave up.
   

Finally, Dr. Gore presented the work orders of 983 repainted cars that it had sold without disclosure to customers in the United States over the preceding ten-year period.  The 983 work orders only pertained to cars that had sustained damage of $300.00 or more (the dollar amount was arbitrarily chosen by Dr. Gore’s attorneys), and Dr. Gore offered no evidence at trial indicating the state in which the cars were sold.
  This evidence was also presented for the purpose of proving punitive damages—to show BMW’s “pattern and practice” of committing fraud by selling refinished or repaired cars to consumers without disclosure.   

In response, BMW argued that its policy was superior to industry practice, and that Dr. Gore had been unable to detect the fact that the car had been damaged.
  According to BMW, damage repair was simply part of the manufacturing process and every manufacturer in the industry had an assembly plant with a repair line that did exactly what BMW did at its “snazzy” vehicle preparation center.
  Yet while BMW presented ample evidence of the manufacturing and distribution process of BMWs, the refinishing process, and its disclosure policy, it did not devote much attention to the quality of the VPC’s paint process in relationship to that of the manufacturer.  That failure was later thought to have led to the jury’s verdict in this case.  

Another problem faced by BMW was its inability to tell a “story” to the jury that was as emotionally resonant as the one told by Dr. Gore’s counsel.  In particular, BMW could not capitalize on the fact that Dr. Gore was not an “ordinary” American, but a rich doctor who was unhappy with a trivial blemish on his expensive car.  As Quillen later stated, this argument was difficult for BMW to make, since “we are BMW.”
  Dr. Gore’s counsel even managed to capitalize on the high cost of the BMW, arguing that a consumer who buys an expensive car is entitled to an even higher expectation of quality.

Although BMW had difficulty capitalizing on the fact that Dr. Gore was not “ordinary” American, on cross-examination it tried to depict him as a greedy person.
  Prepared by his attorneys for such an attack, Dr. Gore told the jury that he planned to use any money that he received from the case for charitable purposes.
  According to Bolt, his response was unexpected by BMW’s attorneys and their attempt to “impugn his motives … was very much regretted afterwards.”

It is impossible to know exactly what motivated Dr. Gore to bring his lawsuit against BMW.  Yet one insight into his motives might be afforded by his response to a BMW settlement offer.  On the first day of the trial, after the attorneys began the process of jury selection, BMW offered Dr. Gore six hundred and fifty thousand dollars to drop his lawsuit.
  After presenting the settlement offer to his client, Bolt later stated that Dr. Gore asked, “Well, that’s fine about the money but are they gonna change their policy?”
  After telling him that they had refused, Dr. Gore told Bolt, “Well, in that case I can’t settle this lawsuit.”
 

Despite BMW’s best efforts, in the end its case was futile in the face of the rousing closing statement offered by Dr. Gore’s counsel, John Haley.  With powerful rhetorical force, Haley stated:

They’ve taken advantage of nine hundred other people on those cars that were worth more. … If what Mr. Cox said is true, they have profited some four million dollars on those automobiles.  Four million dollars in profits that they have made that were wrongfully taken from people.  That’s wrong, ladies and gentlemen.  They ought not be permitted to keep that.  You ought to do something about it. … I urge each and every one of you and hope that each and every one of you has the courage to do something about it.  Because, ladies and gentlemen, I ask you to return a verdict of four million dollars in this case to stop it.

Although he did not like what he was hearing, Quillen’s hands were tied.  During a pre-trial motion in limine he had objected to the use of the work orders to punish BMW for out-of-state conduct, and the judge ruled that it was permissible for the plaintiff to use the evidence.  But perhaps Quillen should have renewed his objection, as Haley’s argument proved extremely persuasive to the jury.  After returning from its deliberations, the jury awarded Dr. Gore the full amount Haley requested—four thousand dollars in compensatory damages and four million dollars in punitive damages.
  Although the compensatory damages were awarded against all three defendants, the punitive damages were jointly awarded against BMW NA and BMW AG only.  Five days later, BMW NA adopted a national full disclosure policy, whereby all repairs done to a BMW are disclosed to the consumer, despite the cost of the repair.
 

Reaction to the Verdict


After the trial, Dr. Gore and his attorneys were ecstatic, and he and his legal team celebrated at a hotel with champagne.
  Dr. Gore later stated that it was the “closest celebration I’ve ever had to winning the World Series,” and that he and his lawyers felt that they had “won the war.”


Unsurprisingly, BMW executives and Quillen were in shock.
  According to David Cordero, corporate counsel for BMW NA, the size of the punitive damage award in relation to the $601 repair, “just shocked the conscience.”
  His sentiments were echoed by Hill, who later stated that “all of [his] teeth [fell] out” when the jury announced the verdict.
 

Dr. Yates


Perhaps most interesting is the relationship between Dr. Gore’s case and the case brought by Dr. Yates.  The two cases were extremely similar.  Both cases were tried in Jefferson County, the plaintiffs were both doctors, the same attorneys represented the parties, the claims were indistinguishable, and the trials were only six weeks apart.
  But although Dr. Yates and Dr. Gore received similar amounts of compensatory damages, Dr. Yates received no punitive damages.


Despite the similarity of the trials, however, there were some differences.  In particular, the trial strategy employed by the plaintiff changed between the two cases.
  In Dr. Yates’s case, the attorneys focused on the difference in quality between the paint processes, and in the second case the attorneys simply assumed that no one would want a repainted vehicle.
  Following their lead, BMW did not spend much time litigating the issue.
  It was later speculated that the punitive damage verdict might not have been rendered in Dr. Gore’s case had BMW paid greater attention to this aspect of the case.


A second difference between the two cases was the verdict that the respective plaintiffs requested.  In Dr. Yates’s case, his attorneys presented the 5,856 work orders showing repairs done to BMWs throughout the country—repair orders that included everything from broken light bulbs to the refinishment of the vehicle.  With those work orders in evidence, the attorneys then asked for a verdict of $20,000,000, using the same calculation for damages offered in Dr. Gore’s case (i.e., each repair diminishes the car’s value by ten percent).
  In Dr. Gore’s trial, however, Dr. Gore’s attorneys decided to only present the 983 repairs orders that pertained to refinishment of BMWs.  Using the same calculation, the jury was asked to award a comparatively smaller sum of four million dollars.  According to Hill, the associate representing BMW, asking for the lower amount made an enormous difference in the result between the two cases.
  He speculated that the attorneys “overtried Dr. Yates’s case” and that the jury “laughed at them” when they asked for an award of twenty million dollars.
 


But perhaps the biggest reason for the difference in outcome lies in the respective juries.  According to Bolt, his legal team knew in Dr. Yates’s case “when [they] struck the jury … that [they] ended up with some jurors that … would not have given Jesus punitive damages against Pontius Pilate.”
 Although Quillen could not bring himself to speak with the jury after the verdict, he also believes that the jury accounted for the difference, placing the greatest responsibility for the different outcomes on the jury’s foreman.
   A man in his mid-thirties, the foreman was perceived by Quillen as an individual that “considered himself underemployed.”
  In other words, “capable of doing much better-respected work than he was doing.”
  Although Quillen had recognized the foreman during voir dire as the type of person “that might take their jury service as an opportunity to do something big [that] day to day they are never in a position to do,” Quillen let him remain on the jury because he owned an older BMW and appeared to be something of a “BMW enthusiast.” 
  Quillen later speculated that the juror was Dr. Gore’s biggest supporter and probably “drove the verdict.”

The Post-Trial Hearing

Following the verdict, the defendants filed a combined motion to the trial court, asking for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, a new trial, and remittitur.
  During September of 1992, a post-trial hearing was held.  In that hearing, testimony was offered by BMW indicating that of the 983 cars that BMW had repainted, only 14 were sold in Alabama.  Although no judicial finding was ever made on the issue, BMW NA would later argue that they were unconstitutionally punished for their activity in other states.  

 
The hearing also witnessed the introduction of testimony by BMW regarding the process by which BMW NA had developed its disclosure policy.  Although Alabama did not have a statute relating to the disclosure of repairs, BMW presented statutes pertaining to the disclosure of auto repairs as they existed in more than twenty other states, to show that its policy complied with those laws.  Amongst those statutes, BMW showed that a three-percent cut-off figure was most common.


To counter this argument, Dr. Gore argued that the provisions identified by BMW were located within consumer protection statutes that provided remedies supplementing, not replacing, basic state law tort rights.  While failure to disclose a repair job that cost less than 3% MSRP may not violate those statutes, Dr. Gore argued that it could still constitute fraudulent suppression.   


The trial court denied all the post-trial motions made by BMW.
  The case, however, was far from over and BMW NA and BMW AG appealed to the Alabama Supreme Court.
   Nonetheless, things were looking rosy for Dr. Gore, and this sentiment seemed to be shared by the law firm representing him.  While the firm had filed three actions against BMW prior to filing Dr. Gore’s complaint, between receiving Dr. Gore’s verdict and the end of February 1993, the number grew to twenty-four—all involving BMWs that had been refinished and sold without disclosure. 
  Many of the clients had been obtained after being contacted by Bolt to be witnesses in Dr. Gore’s trial—their names provided to Bolt during the discovery phase of Dr. Gore’s case, when BMW was forced to hand over the VPC repair orders from the preceding ten-year period.
  

The Disclosure Statutes


Before examining the Alabama Supreme Court’s opinion, it is worth taking a moment to understand the statutes governing required disclosure of repairs made prior to consumer purchase, as they existed at the time BMW NA adopted its disclosure policy and at the time of trial.  In 1983, when BMW first adopted its policy, fifteen states had adopted disclosure statutes, and amongst them, a three-percent threshold was the most stringent.  At the time of trial, twenty-one states had such policies, and amongst them, the majority required the disclosure of any repairs or refinishing costs that exceeded three percent of MSRP. 
  Some even required a higher percentage for disclosure, and two required disclosure at a lesser threshold.


In Alabama, no such statute existed at the time Dr. Gore purchased his vehicle or at the time of trial.  In 1993, however, such a statute was adopted during the Regular Session of the Alabama Legislature and required disclosure of material repairs.  It stated:

For purposes of this section, ‘material damage’ means damage sustained or incurred by a motor vehicle, whether corrected or uncorrected, which cost to repair exceeds three percent of the manufacturer’s suggested retail price of the vehicle based upon the dealer’s retail repair cost or the sum of $500, whichever is greater.  Damage to tires, glass, bumpers, and in-dash audio equipment shall not be considered in determining the cost of repair if those components are replaced by identical manufacturer’s equipment.  The failure of a manufacturer, importer, distributor, or motor vehicle dealer to give notice of damage below the threshold constituting ‘material damage’ shall not provide grounds for revocation of the sale nor shall such failure constitute a material misrepresentation or omission of fact.
  


The passage of this statute brought Alabama into line with the statutes of the majority of the other states that had passed such laws.  Under the statute, the refinishing work performed on Dr. Gore’s BMW would not have had to be disclosed—a result that leads one to question if the punitive damage award was warranted, since, on the face of it, it seems unlikely that the Alabama State Legislature would authorize egregious conduct.  Also, even if disclosure had been required under the statute, the maximum civil penalty would have been $2,000—further suggesting that Dr. Gore’s award amounted to an extraordinary penalty.
   


These conclusions are called into question, however, by the legislative history of the statute.  At the time that this statute was adopted, Alabama state courts were experiencing a wave of litigation against car dealers and manufacturers.
  Unsurprisingly, car manufacturers and their allies were placing pressure on the Alabama state legislature to pass statutes that protected the industry practices that were being challenged in these state court actions.
   The above disclosure statute was a product of that pressure.  What is surprising, however, is the role that the Alabama Auto Dealer’s Association (AADA) played in the adoption of that statute.  When the legislative change was first considered the AADA opposed adopting the statute because dealers were tired of being caught in the middle of the lawsuits brought by car purchasers against automotive manufacturers.
  Yet by the time the statute was adopted, the AADA had changed its position, having been promised by the automobile manufacturers that “they’d be o.k.”


While the statute was being considered, attorneys that represented both parties in Dr. Gore’s litigation also participated in the debate. Samuel Hill, the associate that represented BMW at Dr. Gore’s trial, participated in lobbying for the adoption of this statute, arguing that manufacturers and automotive dealers needed statutory guidance from the state legislative committee.
  Although Dr. Gore never became personally involved in the debate, his attorney, Bolt, argued against the adoption of the statute.
  Bolt later stated that by the time he got involved “the train had already left the station.  There was no talking or reasoning with anybody.  They [the Alabama state legislators] were lined up and ready to salute whatever the Alabama Auto Dealer’s Association wanted, and they [the AADA] had been convinced by the manufacturer that this is what they wanted.”
 

Although it does not seem unreasonable for the legislature to agree that it is unnecessary for a manufacturer or dealer to disclose very minor repairs, given the special interest focus of the car makers, there is a risk that by adopting the details favored by the industry, the legislature did not strike the right balance between the manufacturer and the consumer’s need for the disclosure of more than de-minimus repairs.  For example, the Alabama statute leaves the manufacturer with the ability to determine the cost of repair and, thereby, decide what repairs to disclose.
  This allows the manufacturer or distributor to not disclose to the consumer a substantial repair that it can perform inexpensively. 
  The Alabama statute also does not account for a situation where a small repair before sale necessitates a large repair after sale.  Knowingly and intentionally failing to disclose in either situation might be considered by some to be egregious conduct, thereby supporting the view that the statute may have had less bearing on the underlying egregiousness of BMW’s conduct than one might first imagine.  

Yet, this line of thought can be carried too far.  While the legislative process may be fraught with the influence of special interest groups, this does not mean that its determinations should not be considered in assessing the level of egregiousness of a defendant’s conduct or the appropriate sanctions for conduct that violates the language of any given statute.  If courts never considered a statute in assessing what is lawful or unlawful in assessing punitive damages, it would difficult for a person or corporation to predict what conduct might result in that person or entity being forced to pay a punitive damage award.  Thus, in the final analysis, it seems that statutes such as the disclosure statute passed in Alabama are reasonable political compromises and, as such, one who complies with such a statute should not later have their conduct deemed egregious.  If such statutes result in the authorization of behavior that harms consumers, then perhaps the remedy for that conduct is best found through the political process and not through the judicial system.       

Indeed, not a single court throughout the Gore litigation questioned the politics behind the adoption of nondisclosure statutes or indicated that any state legislature authorized egregious conduct by passing such a statute.  In fact, the presence of nondisclosure statutes authorizing BMW’s conduct strongly supported BMW’s contention that its conduct was not egregious.  In response, Dr. Gore argued that such statutes were not safe-harbors, and did not foreclose the possibility of bringing a fraud action against a distributor or manufacturer who failed to disclose repairs below the statute’s threshold.  Nevertheless, this argument seems baseless when one considers that such an interpretation is not only inconsistent with the language of the Alabama statute, but renders all the disclosure statutes superfluous.

The Alabama Supreme Court     


The Alabama Supreme Court heard two primary issues on appeal.  The first issue was whether BMW AG had sufficient contacts with Alabama to permit Alabama courts to exercise personal jurisdiction over it, and the second was whether the size of the jury’s punitive damage award was excessive.  After hearing the oral arguments and considering the briefs, the court rendered its decision on August 19, 1994.


After reciting the facts of the case, the court first addressed the personal jurisdiction issue.  The court stated that there was insufficient evidence to find either that BMW AG was the altar ego of BMW NA or that BMW AG knowingly or intentionally suppressed a fact relevant to Dr. Gore’s case.
  For these reasons, the court found that it was not “‘fair and reasonable to require [BMW AG] to come to this state to defend [this] action,’” as required by the language of Rule 4.2(a)(2)(I) of the Alabama Rules of Civil Procedure.


After reversing the judgment as to BMW AG, the court then turned to the arguments made to the court by BMW NA.  The court first addressed BMW NA’s contention that there was not “clear and convincing evidence that [BMW NA] consciously or deliberately engaged in oppression, fraud, wantonness or malice with regard to the plaintiff.”
  BMW NA argued that this standard had not been met because it had presented substantial evidence at trial that it had a good faith belief that refinished vehicles do not suffer a diminishment in value, and that it had attempted to comply with the laws of other states in adopting its disclosure policy.  


The Alabama Supreme Court rejected this argument.  The court pointed out that at the time the events occurred, Alabama did not have a consumer protection law pertaining to the disclosure of automotive repairs made by manufacturers and distributors.  Although, as already described, the Alabama Legislature enacted such a law in its 1993 Regular Session, the court found that the public policy expressed in the statute had not been adopted at the time that BMW NA adopted its disclosure policy.
 


While that statement is true, there is no reason to conclude that the view of legislators as to what is reasonable conduct would change over a three year span.  Although the legislative process is affected by special interests, as previously discussed, statutes created in such environments still reflect reasonable political compromises. Thus, the court should have viewed the law as an expression on the part of two branches of Alabama government that such behavior does not demonstrate clear and convincing evidence of “oppression, fraud, wantonness or malice.”   

 
The court then turned to BMW NA’s argument that the trial court committed error when it admitted evidence that BMW NA had sold 983 refinished vehicles in the United States without disclosure.  The court stated that it was “apparent from an examination of the transcript that Gore’s theory for admissibility … was ‘to aid Gore in meeting [his] burden of [proving] intent, willfulness, pattern, practice, for damage purposes.’”  The court found that this theory warranted the introduction of the evidence, despite the fact that only 14 of the 983 sales were in Alabama, and no evidence was presented that the sales in other states were unlawful.


The reasoning expressed by the court in its determination of this issue is also flawed.  If the cars were sold without disclosure in states where such sales were lawful, then the 983 repair orders simply demonstrate a “pattern and practice” of engaging in lawful conduct.  Acting in a lawful manner does not demonstrate egregious conduct, and, therefore, the out-of-state work orders seem irrelevant.


 Finally, the court turned to the BMW NA’s main argument that the punitive damage award was excessive.  In Alabama, Green Oil Co. v. Hornsby, 539 So.2d 218 (Ala. 1989) is the touchstone for determining whether a punitive damage verdict is egregious.
  After citing portions of the opinion and stating the factors, the court analyzed the punitive damage award in relation to each factor, reserving for the end of the opinion whether the punitive damage award bears a reasonable relationship to the harm.

The court first examined the reprehensibility of BMW NA’s conduct.  The court found “that Gore satisfactorily proved that BMW NA engaged in a pattern and practice of knowingly failing to disclose damage to new cars, even though the damage effects their value, and that BMW NA followed this policy for several years.”  The court concluded that this evidence “satisfied the burden placed on him to show that BMW NA’s conduct was reprehensible.”  

This analysis assumes the conclusion.  Although the evidence may have shown the conduct that BMW NA engaged in, it does not explain why that conduct is reprehensible.  If BMW NA’s conduct was clearly lawful in most states, then it does not seem reprehensible for it to apply the policy nationwide.  The court also failed to consider the recent expression on behalf of two branches of Alabama government that disclosure need only be made pertaining to repairs above a certain value, and whether that indicated that BMW NA’s conduct was not reprehensible.  Both issues should have been considered, since they indicate that BMW NA’s conduct did not rise to the level of reprehensibility necessary to sustain a punitive damage award.  

The court considered the next factor—whether the conduct was profitable to BMW NA.  The court concluded that the conduct was profitable since Dr. Gore had presented evidence that the value of a refinished BMW was reduced by ten percent.  But the court never indicated what amount of profit should be removed.  This is an important consideration since the quantification of profit may vary depending on whether one is considering the profit from the sale of Dr. Gore’s refinished BMW, the fourteen refinished BMWs in Alabama, or the refinished BMWs nationwide.  Instead, the court merely stated that “punitive damages should be excess of the profit, so that the wrongdoer recognizes a loss” and since there was evidence legally sufficient to resist the motion made by BMW for a directed verdict, it was up to the jury.  But the “profit” factor seems meaningless unless the court determines which profit figure is to be considered and what amount in excess of that figure can be awarded. 


The court went on to discuss the next factor—the financial position of the defendant.  This factor was given the least attention of all the factors, with the court merely stating that the punitive damage judgment “would not have a substantial impact upon BMW’s financial position.”  But the court never stated whether the purpose of this factor is to impact the defendant’s financial position, to protect the defendant from financial ruin, or something else.
  By dismissing the factor out of hand, the court failed to provide guidance to lower courts that depend upon their decisions to aid them in examining punitive damage awards. 


The court then considered the next factor—the costs of litigation.  The court found that this factor favored the punitive damage award because “the costs associated with this trial were substantial.”  Although this may have been true, the relevance of this is questionable.  Litigation is always costly and there is no indication that this trial was more expensive than the average case.  Given the court’s application of this factor to the case at hand, it seems unlikely that the factor would ever operate to limit a punitive damage award.  

Next, the court considered criminal sanctions and civil actions as possible mitigating factors.  Since no criminal sanctions existed for this conduct, and, therefore, there would not be double punishment for the same act, the court was correct in concluding that there was no reason to mitigate the award.  The court’s review of other civil actions filed against BMW NA is more troubling.  

Although the court noted that twenty-four civil actions had been filed against BMW NA, the court only stated the judgment rendered in one of the twenty-four cases.
  That case—Yates v. BMW NA—was discussed in detail.
  Yet despite the fact that the purpose of the factor is to mitigate the award, the court never used the judgment in that case or any of the other twenty-three cases to reduce the judgment in the case at hand.  Instead, the court abandoned analysis of the factor.  

Given the court’s treatment of Yates, it is reasonable to infer that the case troubled the court.  As previously discussed, although the facts of Yates are extremely similar to Dr. Gore’s, the jury in Yates awarded no punitive damages.  The Alabama Supreme Court, attempting to find some explanation, highlighted the difference in proof offered at trial.  But while Yates offered 5,856 repair bills into evidence—as opposed to the 983 work orders offered by Dr. Gore—they were both offered to show BMW NA’s “pattern and practice” of nondisclosure.  Thus, if the two cases are not identical, they are closely comparable.  

The Alabama Supreme Court’s discomfort with the similarity between the two cases may explain why it chose to discuss Yates in the section afforded to the mitigating effect of criminal sanctions and civil actions.  No doubt, a discussion of Yates would also have been more proper within the reprehensibility section, given that at least one jury did not view BMW NA’s conduct as reprehensible.  By burying the Yates discussion in a factor to which their similarity is irrelevant, the court acted defensively—wanting to accept Dr. Gore’s punitive damage award without having to confront the issues raised by Yates. 

The court then discussed the final factor—a reasonable relationship between the punitive damage award and the harm done.  The court discussed this factor at some length, and its final determination rested on the analysis of other issues pertinent to the case.  Although these issues do not all seem relevant to discussion of the “reasonable relationship” factor, the court’s discussion of each issue will be considered in turn, beginning with its analysis of the jury’s use of BMW NA’s nationwide sales as a multiplier for assessing punitive damages.

The court first found that the jury committed error when it awarded punitive damages on the basis of BMW NA’s out-of-state conduct.  The court stated that while the evidence was admissible, it was only admissible for proving “pattern and practice,” not as a multiplier for determining the damage award.  This determination is based on the lack of evidence suggesting that the out-of-state conduct was unlawful.

The basis for this determination is of interest, however, because it suggests that the jury could have used BMW NA’s out-of-state sales as a multiplier so long as evidence was presented that the sales were unlawful.  By allowing the jury to engage in such conduct, the court implicitly accepted the notion that a jury could punish defendants for actions that they have committed outside of its borders.  BMW NA argued to the court that such conduct was a violation of due process rights and an encroachment upon state sovereignty. Although the court acknowledged that argument, it did nothing to address this issue.

The court then addressed Alabama case law that indicated BMW NA’s conduct did not give rise to punitive damages.  These cases stated that “a manufacturer that in good faith repairs a vehicle to ‘new’ specifications should not be found to have engaged in conduct giving rise to punitive damages” and that  “a vehicle with superficial cosmetic damage, including scratches in the paint and unmatched and uneven paint, was ‘new’ as a matter of law.”  The court stated that it “considered the principles of law contained in these other Alabama cases,” and then moved on without articulating why the case law did not dispose of the issue before it.  Given that these cases mandated a result contrary to that ultimately reached, the court’s failure to address them indicates a flagrant desire to rubber-stamp the jury’s verdict. 

After the foregoing discussion, the court finally began to consider the relationship of the harm to the award.  But the court’s analysis of this issue is muddled, and the court never explicitly stated the magnitude of the harm.  The closest the court came to such a determination was its statement that it found  “a reasonable relationship between the jury’s decision to award punitive damages and the number of times BMW NA had engaged in similar conduct.”  What is odd about the court’s analysis, however, is the fact that the court separates the jury’s decision to award damages from the amount that was awarded.  The former consideration is not even discussed by the relevant Green Oil factor. 

In any event, the court turned to the latter issue and noted that in determining the “amount of punitive damages” it would not consider BMW NA’s out-of-state conduct.  By italicizing these words, the court highlighted the distinction between using out-of-state conduct to decide to award punitive damages and using out-of-state conduct to calculate the award.  Yet this distinction also highlights a recurring weakness in the court’s reasoning.   Namely, if that conduct was not illegal in other states, then the conduct was not reprehensible, and, therefore, irrelevant to determining whether punitive damages should be awarded at all.

At this point the Alabama Supreme Court’s opinion moves from disappointing to maddening.  After stating that “the constitutionality of Alabama’s punitive damage law rests, in part, on [the] Court’s use of comparative analysis during judicial review of a punitive damages award,” the court did nothing to engage in such an analysis.  Instead, the court downplayed the use of comparative analysis in the assessment of a punitive damage award in an effort to ignore the fact that no other court had awarded such a high punitive damage award for this conduct.  Yet even if the comparative analysis factor were subordinate in importance to the other factors, it is curious that the court upheld the punitive damage verdict, given that the other factors also did not seem persuasively in Dr. Gore’s favor.

In a further effort to justify its holding, the court belabored the point that a trial judge and an appellate court should afford deference to the findings made by the jury.  The court stated that the “determination of a proper award of punitive damages ultimately turns on the jury’s determination of the fact that warrants their imposition.” But this is also unpersuasive.  While the jury should be afforded deference by appellate courts, it only pertains to the jury’s fact-finding function.  If their judgment is wrong as a matter of law, then no deference is afforded.  Since finding a verdict excessive is a matter of law, the Alabama Supreme Court was not faced with substituting their judgment for that of the jury.

By down-playing the significance of the reasonable relationship factor and focusing on the deference that should be given to the jury’s verdict, the court side-stepped the issue of how the compensatory damage award in this case relates to the punitive damage award.  Nonetheless, through their decision to ignore the blatant disparity between the two damage awards, it seems apparent that the court was aware that there was a great disparity—perhaps 1,000 to 1—between the two.  


The ultimate decision of the Alabama Supreme Court is as baffling as the poor analytical quality of the rest of the opinion.  After “thoroughly and painstakingly reviewing this jury’s award in light of the factors discussed above” the court held that a $2,000,000 award was “constitutionally reasonable.”  Of course, the court never states how it arrived at this figure, although it is assumed that the court cut the original award in half since the jury, in the absence of evidence that it was illegal, should not have considered BMW’s conduct in other jurisdictions.  But this is never clearly stated, and why $2,000,000 was appropriate is never articulated.    

 Alabama Supreme Court Justice Houston concurred specially.  Houston compared the punitive damage award in this case to punitive damage awards in other Alabama cases that involved fraud in the sale of automobiles.  He found that inflation-adjusted punitive damage awards for these cases ranged from $11,800 to $162,637.  Although these numbers appear to be far less than the punitive damage award in this case, Houston accepted the court’s decision to award $2,000,000 in punitive damages.  

Houston’s acceptance of this figure seems to be premised on his belief that in awarding punitive damages, it was proper for the jury to consider the sales that BMW NA made in other states.  Although Houston never stated this outright, this belief can be inferred from the language he used in his support of the majority’s award of $2,000,000 in punitive damages.  After stating that the Alabama Supreme Court can only remit punitive damage awards in excess of the maximum amount that a jury could have awarded, Houston stated that in “considering the evidence of these other sales, including the 14 instances of concealed repair in Alabama … the actions or inactions of BMW NA in connection with these sales would support the majority’s award of $2,000,000 in punitive damages.”  

In addition to articulating why he supported the majority’s punitive damage award of $2,000,000, Houston’s concurrence displayed discomfort with the similarity between this case and Yates.  Houston stated:

The Yates case and this case are almost identical.  The same excellent lawyers represented Yates that represented Dr. Gore; the same excellent lawyers represented BMW NA in both cases.  Excellent trial judges, in the same judicial circuit, conducted as nearly perfect trials as can be conducted.  Each plaintiff was a member of a respected profession; each was a physician.  BMW NA was the defendant in each case.  How does Gore get $2,000,000 in punitive damages and Yates get nothing in punitive damages?  Different juries.

Although Houston acknowledged that juries have “virtually uncontrollable discretion” to decide whether to award punitive damages, he speculated that “perhaps Gore, Yates, BMW NA, the citizens of Alabama, and even this Justice will think that something is not right—that to paraphrase a Ray Stevens song of several years ago, Gore got the gold mine and Yates got something else.”  Yet, Houston did not reach the conclusion that the discretion of the jury should be limited or that Yates, or any plaintiff, should be entitled to a punitive damage award.  Instead, Houston asked the court  “in the name of all that is fair… to direct that all or a substantial portion of punitive damages awarded in similar cases, after deducting attorneys fees and expenses of litigation, be paid to the state general fund or to some special fund that serves a special purpose or advances the cause of justice.”  Houston argued that doing so would keep the Alabama punitive damage award system from being perceived “as Alabama’s lottery, as it is now perceived by so many.”
Different Awards
As Justice Houston indicates in his concurrence, Dr. Gore’s punitive damage award seems unfair, and perhaps, an aberration, when one considers the result in Yates. Nevertheless, it would be bizarre to suggest that Dr. Gore should be barred from obtaining punitive damages because an earlier plaintiff was unable to convince a jury to award them.  For that reason, it seems practical simply to factor the result in Yates into the reprehensibility analysis, which allows consideration for the fact that another body, upon hearing the evidence, did not view the defendant’s conduct as rising to the level of egregious. 

Some, however, have suggested that a plaintiff should only be allowed to receive punitive damages based on the conduct that happened to them—in order to control for an abberational jury verdict and prevent a defendant from being punished for the same conduct multiple times.  Yet this might circumvent the value of punitive damages in regard to deterrence, since defendants could cause great harm in the aggregate, although the individual harm is slight, leaving few to bring such lawsuits, and providing little motivation to change their conduct.  For that reason, it seems that it is perfectly acceptable for a defendant to be punished in one large damage assessment and change his conduct, with the court able to reduce any punitive damage award rendered in a later case.    

The Petition, Briefs, and Oral Argument

On November 17, 1994 BMW NA filed a petition for a writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court—a petition that would ultimately be granted.
  Two separate law firms filed the petition on behalf of BMW NA, and the counsel of record was Andrew L. Frey, a fifty-seven year old partner at Mayer, Brown, & Platt.
  Professionally, Frey was quite successful.
  He attended Swarthmore College as an undergraduate, graduated first in his class from Columbia Law School, worked for a law firm, spent fourteen years at the United States Department of Justice, and then returned to private practice.  Well known for his status as “a first-string Supreme Court player,” Frey had argued sixty-one times in front of the Court.
  Out of the four punitive damages cases that the Court had heard in the six years preceding this case, Frey had been the “shepherd” of two.
 

Frey’s opposing counsel of record was Michael H. Gottesman, a law professor and faculty member at Georgetown University Law Center.
  Gottesman had also argued many cases in front of the United States Supreme Court, and specialized in the fields of labor law, constitutional law, civil rights, and torts.  Like Frey, Gottesman had enjoyed a high degree of professional success.  He attended the University of Chicago as an undergraduate, received a law degree from Yale, worked in private practice, and simultaneously taught as an adjunct professor at Georgetown Law Center until he received a permanent faculty position in 1989.  Unlike Frey, Gottesman was not counsel of record when Dr. Gore filed his petition for certiorari, and instead joined Dr. Gore’s team of legal representation when the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari.
  Bolt later stated that “the hardest thing I’ve ever done as a practicing lawyer was not argue that case.  But I felt a responsibility not only to my client but also … to the entire bar in the country … to make sure the case was presented in the best way it could….”
  Other legal commentators agreed, stating at the time that Dr. Gore had made a “wise” move.
     

In his representation of BMW NA, Frey made two main arguments.  The first argument was that the punitive damage award had violated the U.S. Constitution by punishing BMW NA for its out-of-state conduct, and that the Alabama Supreme Court failed to remedy the violation.
  The second argument was that the award was so excessive that it violated substantive due process.  These two arguments were consistently made—finding their way into Frey’s petition for certiorari, briefs, and oral argument. 

The crux of Frey’s first argument was that the Alabama Supreme Court, in an effort to remedy the constitutional violation, had reduced the award to what that court saw as the maximum constitutional amount (i.e., the maximum amount that the jury could have awarded on the facts of the case).  Frey argued that the jury would never have chosen to award the maximum amount constitutionally allowable had it not considered BMW NA’s out-of-state sales, and, thus, the figure was tainted by the constitutional violation.  To purge the “taint,” Frey argued that the Alabama Supreme Court should have either granted a new trial or awarded Dr. Gore $56,000 (i.e., $4,000 per Alabama consumer). 

The ambiguity of the Alabama Supreme Court’s language made this argument problematic.  Although the court stated that two million dollars was a “constitutionally reasonable” amount, the court did not explicitly state that it was the maximum amount constitutionally reasonable.  If the two million-dollar-figure was not the maximum amount constitutionally reasonable, then the figure was less likely to be tainted by the constitutional violation and the argument would fail.  Surprisingly, Gottesman’s brief conceded that the Alabama Supreme Court had reduced the award to its constitutionally maximum amount—a decision that he rescinded at oral argument.

It is also unclear why Frey chose to concede that the Alabama Supreme Court had ignored the out-of-state conduct in arriving at the two-million-dollar figure.  Although the Court presumably adjusted the award to account for the absence of the out-of-state sales, it did allow use of the figure to show BMW NA’s pattern and practice of engaging in reprehensible conduct.  If that conduct was legal in other states, then the conduct did not demonstrate a pattern and practice of engaging in reprehensible conduct nationally, thereby strongly suggesting that an award of two million dollars was not supported by the reprehensibility factor.  However, Frey did not make this argument in his petition for a writ of certiorari, briefs, or oral argument.

Another issue that Frey failed to address was the Alabama Supreme Court’s implicit assertion that the punitive damages must be large enough to change BMW NA’s national disclosure policy in order to stop the harm that BMW NA was inflicting upon Alabama consumers.  It seems that BMW NA could have left its national policy intact but changed its disclosure policy in Alabama once it was aware that the policy violated Alabama law.  Although this is another indication that the Supreme Court did not properly “eschew reliance” on the out-of-state sales, Frey did not challenge the Alabama Supreme Court’s reasoning in regard to this issue.         

Whereas Frey’s brief centered on two main arguments, Gottesman’s brief contained a myriad of arguments made to refute BMW NA’s claims.  The over-arching arguments were: (1) that the Court should not reach the constitutional issues presented in the case because, at that time, Congress was considering whether to place limits on punitive damage awards; (2) it was not inappropriate for the jury to consider BMW NA’s out-of state conduct; (3) even absent consideration of the out-of-state conduct the punitive damage award was reasonable and justified “in light of all relevant factors;” and (4) that the Alabama Supreme Court did not commit error when it remitted the award to the constitutional maximum amount.  The second argument was the most substantial in the brief, turning on Gottesman’s contention that BMW NA’s nationwide disclosure policy harmed Alabama consumers, and that substantial punitive damages were necessary to change the policy since it applied nationwide.  

In addition to being the longest of the arguments made in Gottesman’s brief, the argument was also ingenious in the way in which it managed to address the two arguments made by BMW NA.  By viewing the award as an assessment of the amount “needed to force BMW to change its nondisclosure policy,” the argument rendered immaterial the question of whether the out-of-state conduct was illegal and also avoided substantive due process concerns.  In regard to the latter issue, BMW NA could not “claim surprise at the assessment of punitive damages against it sufficient to force it to change its unitary tortuous nondisclosure policy,” rendering obsolete the concerns addressed by the substantive due process guarantee.

But the argument is also problematic since, as already noted, it seems unlikely that the only way to prevent harm to Alabama consumers was for BMW NA to change their national policy.  Frey argued in his reply brief that while the national policy had not changed after the Yates verdict, BMW NA had redirected its refinished cars away from Alabama.  Gottesman argued that this was an ineffective solution, since dealer trading between states could result in the cars still being sold to Alabama consumers.
Gottesman’s brief also questioned whether BMW NA’s policy was chosen after canvassing the laws of other states and adopting a policy that complied with the most restrictive of those statutes.  According to this argument, there was no evidence to suggest that BMW NA adopted its disclosure policy in 1983 after doing such research.  Gottesman supported this argument by highlighting the fact that BMW NA did not present a witness at trial that had knowledge of drafting and adoption of the policy.  Gottesman also noted that BMW NA admitted in its brief to the Alabama Supreme Court that “it did not consult an attorney when it adopted its policy.”  If true, this might indicate that BMW NA’s conduct was more reprehensible than BMW NA suggested, considering that BMW NA was using the research that went to the adoption of the policy as evidence that their conduct was not reprehensible.  But the significance of this argument is questionable, given that even if BMW NA did not engage in such research, the fact remains that its policy is in compliance with the law of other states—and is even in compliance with the law of Alabama post-trial. 

After the briefs were filed, the oral argument became an event anticipated by many, since those who followed the case were curious as to which of Frey’s two arguments interested the Court.  Many hypothesized that the Court had granted certiorari due to the interesting nature of the extraterritorial punishment claim. 
  This group included Quillen, an attorney that represented BMW NA in both trial court and in the United States Supreme Court litigation.
  Indeed, he thought that the extraterritorial punishment argument was BMW NA’s strongest.
  

The United States Supreme Court heard oral argument on October 11, 1995.  Seated in the audience were many of the attorneys that participated in litigating the case, executives from BMW, Dr. Gore, his wife, and two children.
  To the surprise of many, one member of the United States Supreme Court quickly indicated her disinterest in the extraterritorial punishment argument.  Justice Ginsburg stated:

Mr. Frey, I think that that argument is not genuinely in the case, and let me tell you why.  There is a statement made by a lawyer.  It’s not in the judge’s charge.  The Alabama Supreme Court says that was wrong.  The jury determined liability.  The Alabama Supreme Court then—we think, after a thorough and painstaking review, [said] $2,000,000 is an apt award, and that’s what they set.  Shouldn’t we, as a Federal Court, give the Alabama Supreme Court the respect of assuming that once it recognized the extraterritorial computation was no good, it then set what it considered a permissible award without regard to any extraterritorial multiplier?

Nevertheless, much of the oral argument focused on the extraterritorial punishment issue, and many of the questions posed by the other justices addressed this argument.  In fact, Frey himself devoted little time to addressing the substantive due process claim and, even when directly asked questions about the issue, preferred not to discuss it.  Only after being prodded by the Court’s questioning near the end of his argument did he finally state that the punitive damage award in the case violated due process, and take the time to propose a test for that determination.  But even then, discussion was limited.   Frey ran short on time and reserved his remaining minutes for rebuttal.

Gottesman’s oral argument also focused on the extraterritorial punishment issue, including whether punishing BMW NA for its out-of-state conduct was a constitutional violation, and, if so, whether the Alabama Supreme Court remedied that violation.  But despite this initial focus, Gottesman devoted more time to addressing the substantive due process claim than Frey, arguing that the award needed to be substantial in order to deter the nationwide policy.  The justices were critical of that argument, contending that no evidence was presented indicating that BMW NA could not have determined a way to eliminate such sales in Alabama without abandoning the nationwide policy as it applied to other states.

When the oral argument ended a big question mark hung in the air.  Although the Court had spent considerable time discussing the extraterritorial punishment issue, some justices had indicated disinterest in that argument.  As a result, no one had a clear sense of what the Court would decide.  The statements of Stephen Bokat of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce reflect that inability.  He stated that he “went into the oral argument thinking that this was going to be the one” but that he “didn’t see a majority agree on anything and that baffled him.”
  

Nationwide Publicity

While many Americans say that they live in a litigious society, only a handful of cases are discussed by the average American or even, perhaps, the more attentive law professor.  Dr. Gore’s case defied the odds, however, and gained nationwide recognition.  Although this might have resulted from the merits of the case itself, it is more likely that it was the result of the American political climate at that time.

At the time in which the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari, Congress and the Senate were considering tort reform proposals.  These proposals were the result of Newt Gingrich’s Contract with America—a list of ten promises that the Republicans vowed to keep if they were elected to majority of seats in the House of Representatives in 1994. 
  One of the ten contract items was “common sense legal reforms.”  After the Republicans gained a majority of seats within the House of Representatives, Newt Gingrich was elected Speaker of the House, and the Republicans set about fulfilling that contract item.  

With the issue of tort reform dominating the legislative arena, advocates of the tort reform proposals latched onto cases demonstrating that punitive damages were out of control.
  These groups were made aware of Dr. Gore’s case when BMW NA went to tort reform groups seeking support and amicus briefs for the litigation occurring in the United States Supreme Court.
  Once made aware of the case, Dr. Gore became their poster child, a title he held jointly with Stella Liebeck, the woman who was awarded $2.7 million dollars for spilling hot McDonald’s coffee in her lap.
   

The tort reform advocates used Dr. Gore’s case to demonstrate to the American public that Congress should limit punitive damages, arguing that they were a “wild card” in the civil litigation system, operating only to stunt innovation and line the pockets of attorneys.
  Opponents of tort reform (generally trial lawyer associations) attempted to counter the media blitz, arguing that punitive damages were an effective solution to corporate misconduct and, most importantly, a state issue.  On the Senate Floor while debating a bill capping punitive damages in products liability cases, Senator Orrin G. Hatch, a Republican Senator from Utah, “def[ied] any member of [the] Senate to read the [Alabama Supreme Court] opinion … and tell the American people that justice was done.”
  Senator Ernest F. Hollings, a Democrat from South Carolina, told Senator Hatch to “go ahead and cite your two or three little cases that sound outrageous.”
  

The national attention surrounding the case did not go unnoticed by the attorneys representing Dr. Gore and BMW NA, and the attorneys used the national attention to argue their respective cases to the American public and join the national debate surrounding punitive damage reform.  Both attorneys were quoted by many national publications, with Frey arguing that the “jury is poorly qualified” to assess punitive damage awards, and Bolt arguing that punitive damages give the jury “teeth.”
  Bolt even stated that “the headline on this [story] should be, ‘Attention: Punitive Damages Work.’”
 

Ultimately, however, the tort reform proposals of both the House of Representatives and the Senate failed.  Although the two houses compromised to pass such a bill, it was vetoed by the sitting president, Bill Clinton, four weeks before the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in BMW v. Gore.  Unable to muster enough votes to override the veto, the bill faded into oblivion, and the United States Supreme Court became the only one that year to place a limit on punitive damages. 

The Opinion

The United States Supreme Court issued its opinion on May 20, 1996.
  The Court found, for the first time in its history, that a punitive damage award violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.  Justice Stevens delivered the opinion of the Court, in which Justice O’Conner, Justice Kennedy, Justice Souter, and Justice Breyer joined.  Justice Breyer filed a concurring opinion in which Justice O’Conner and Justice Souter joined.  Justice Scalia filed a dissent, in which Justice Thomas joined, and Justice Ginsburg filed a dissent, in which Chief Justice Rehnquist joined.  Each will be discussed in turn, along with analysis of some of the strengths and weaknesses of the Court’s opinions.  


Before examining these opinions, however, it worth discussing how, given the political lines drawn in the national debate surrounding punitive damages, at first one might find the line-up of the Court surprising.  On the issue of tort victims versus business interests, one might expect that Justice Scalia, Justice Thomas, and Justice Rehnquist, the well known politically conservative members of the Court, would have voted in favor of BMW, whereas Justice Ginsburg, Justice Stevens, and Justice Breyer, the well-known liberal justices, would have voted in favor of Dr. Gore.
  Thus, it is perhaps surprising that, in the end, on this basis, only Justice Ginsburg’s vote seems expected.  


Nonetheless, upon reading the various opinions filed by the justices in Gore and speaking with the litigants involved in the case, the line-up of the Court is less surprising.  In particular, it is apparent when reading the dissents either filed or joined by Justice Scalia, Justice Thomas, and Justice Rehnquist, that these justices found the conservative notion of federalism to be more persuasive than placing constitutional limitations on punitive damage awards.  Their votes, along with those of the other justices, had been predicted by Bolt.  He later stated that “after Breyer was confirmed to the United States Supreme Court [he] had the feeling [Dr. Gore’s case] was going to go down 5-4.”

The Opinion Delivered By Justice Stevens
After reviewing the facts and the procedural history of the case, Stevens quickly rejected Dr. Gore’s argument that the size of the punitive damage verdict was reasonable in relation to Alabama’s interest in stopping BMW NA’s nationwide policy.  Stevens stated that “by attempting to alter BMW’s nationwide policy, Alabama would be infringing on the policy choices of other states” and that “the record discloses no basis for Dr. Gore’s contention that BMW could not comply with Alabama’s law without changing its nationwide policy.”

By basing this determination on the lack of evidence indicating that BMW could not comply with Alabama law without changing its nationwide policy, notice that the Court leaves two questions unanswered.  First, whether a state could use punitive damages to change a national policy if there were evidence that the policy could not be altered for only that state.  Second, whether a state could impose punitive damages against a defendant that could alter its policy for that state but refused to do so.  For example, BMW NA might have determined that it was more efficient for it to continue with its nationwide policy and simply pay the judgments against it within that state. 

An altogether different question also left unanswered in the opinion is whether a state can punish for unlawful conduct that occurs in another state.  This is particularly obvious in the section of the opinion devoted to Court’s acceptance of the Alabama Supreme Court’s decision that the jury’s verdict was “based in large part on conduct that happened in other jurisdictions.”  After noting that neither the jury nor the trial court was presented with evidence that the out-of-state conduct was unlawful, Stevens stated that the Alabama Supreme Court “therefore properly eschewed reliance on BMW’s out-of-state conduct, and based its remitted award solely on conduct that occurred in Alabama.”  Thus, Stevens seemingly left open the possibility that a state could punish a defendant for its out-of-state conduct if that conduct was unlawful.
 


After engaging in this analysis, Stevens confronted the issue of whether the jury’s punitive damage award was excessive.  Stevens stated that “elementary notions of fairness enshrined in our constitutional jurisprudence dictate that a person receive fair notice not only of the conduct that will subject him to punishment, but also of the severity of the penalty that a State may impose.”  Stevens then listed “three guideposts” that should be used in making that determination: (1) the degree of reprehensibility of the conduct; (2) the disparity between the harm or potential harm and the punitive damage award; and (3) the difference between this remedy and the civil penalties authorized or imposed in comparable cases.


 Stevens stated that the first guidepost, the degree of reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct, was the “most important indicum of the reasonableness of a punitive damage award.”  According to Stevens, BMW NA’s conduct did not contain a high degree of reprehensibility.  He made this finding based on numerous reasons, including that the harm was purely economic, the refinishing of the car did not affect its performance or safety, and the conduct did not reflect a reckless disregard for the health and safety of others.  Stevens also found that there was no evidence that BMW NA adopted its disclosure policy in bad faith, persisted after its conduct was adjudged unlawful, deliberately made false statements, engaged in acts of affirmative misconduct, or concealed evidence of improper motive.  Surprisingly, Stevens did not consider the Alabama state legislatures adoption of a disclosure statute after Dr. Gore’s case as evidence that its conduct did not contain a high degree of reprehensibility.
    


Stevens also addressed Dr. Gore’s argument that BMW NA’s conduct extended across the entire nation and was, therefore, reprehensible.  Although Stevens agreed that this might otherwise be relevant to determining the degree of reprehensibility of a defendant’s conduct, he refused to consider that here since Dr. Gore had failed to establish that the conduct was illegal nationwide.   


Stevens then turned to an analysis of the case in relation to the second “guidepost”—the ratio between the harm and the punitive damage award.  In discussing how to properly apply this “guidepost” to the case, Stevens pointed out that the ratio test had a long history, and that its application depended upon “a general concern of reasonableness” and not a bright line formula.  Applying this “guidepost” to the case, Stevens found that the already reduced two million-dollar punitive damage award was still 500 times the amount of the compensatory damage award, and that no evidence existed indicating that there was any additional potential harm.  Stevens found “that when the ratio is a breathtaking 500 to 1 … the award must surely “raise a suspicious judicial eyebrow.”


In engaging in this analysis, however, Stevens does not make clear why the ratio should be considered in regard to Dr. Gore alone, instead of, say, the other fourteen Alabama consumers. 
   He thereby fails to provide insight into what would surely be a common case—a situation in which many state consumers are harmed, the compensatory damage for each is low, and the high punitive damage verdict accounts for the defendant’s state-wide conduct.   Thus, Stevens’s second “guidepost” offers little beyond what the Court had already established in previous cases.  In fact, it is an open question as to whether it provides much guidance at all.


Stevens then analyzed the third “guidepost” he had articulated—sanctions for comparable misconduct.  Stevens examined the penalties other states imposed for similar conduct, and determined that none of them would have indicated to an out-of-state distributor that they could have been subject to such a million dollar penalty.  He also concluded that no evidence suggested that a smaller penalty would not have achieved a similar effect, since BMW NA did not have a history of noncompliance with known statutory requirements.


After applying the three guideposts, Stevens concluded that BMW had not received fair notice that its conduct would lead to such a high punitive damage award.  Although he did not draw a bright line “marking the limits of a constitutionally acceptable punitive damage award” he was “convinced that the grossly excessive award imposed in this case transcends the constitutional limit.”  For this reason, Stevens reversed and remanded the case to the Alabama Supreme Court, leaving it for them to determine a new award or if the appropriate remedy was a new trial.

Justice Breyer’s Concurrence


Justice Breyer’s concurrence began by stating that punitive damage awards subjected to fair procedures are generally subject to a presumption of validity.  Although he noted that the procedures followed by the Alabama Supreme Court were fair, he believed that the grossly excessive punitive damage award rendered by the court overcame this presumption of validity.  According to Breyer, citizens should be on notice that their actions might be punished and that the punishment will be consistent with the punishment of others committing the same offense.  Breyer found that Alabama law regarding punitive damages did not “provide significant constraints or protection against arbitrary results” because the Alabama statute permitting punitive damages was imprecise and the Green Oil factors intended to “constrain punitive damage awards” were applied and interpreted by the Alabama Supreme Court “in a way that belie[d] [their] purpose.”


In analyzing Alabama’s punitive damage statute, Breyer reasoned that the definition of the terms in the statute’s standard for punitive damage awards—“oppression, fraud, wantonness, or malice”—were too broad, encompassing conduct that did not rise to the level of egregious.  He then determined which factors Green Oil were applied and interpreted in a way that “belie[d] [their] purpose,” and found that the court did not apply any other standard for the award’s justification.
  For these reasons, Breyer concluded that the award “was both (a) the product of a system of standards that did not significantly constrain a court’s, and hence a jury’s, discretion in making that award; and (b) grossly excessive in light of the State’s legitimate punitive damage objectives.”  Breyer found that the above overcame the presumption of validity and violated the Due Process Clause.    

Justice Scalia’s Dissent 

Justice Scalia’s dissent focused on his belief that the Court was concerned with punitive damages “run wild” and that their decision was improper because the Constitution “does not make that concern any of [the Court’s] business.”  He found the Court’s majority opinion to be “an unjustified incursion into the province of state governments” as the Fourteenth Amendment’s procedural guarantee assures … an opportunity to contest the reasonableness of a damages judgment in state court … [not a] federal guarantee a damages award actually be reasonable.”  Scalia’s dissent is long and critical of the majority opinion, but ultimately argued that the Court’s guideposts “mark a road to nowhere” and that the opinion only reflected the Court’s disagreement with the Alabama jury’s decision to award punitive damages.  

Always the colorful character, Scalia provided further insight into his dissent when he gave a speech to four hundred people at a Chicago Bar Association dinner in March of 1998.
  Describing himself as an “originalist” in regard to Constitutional interpretation, he discussed his dissent in Dr. Gore’s case and compared it with his dissent in Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 620 (1995), a decision in which the Court determined that a state constitutional amendment against the protection of homosexuals was unconstitutional.  Scalia responded to public reaction after the cases were decided—in particular how BMW v. Gore was embraced by conservatives and Romer v. Evans was embraced by liberals.  “A pox on both their houses,” Scalia said.
  “It has nothing to do with whether you want to move social policy to the right or to the left.  It has to do with whether the Constitution should be the instrument of social policy—or, more precisely, whether a committee of nine lawyers ought to decide social policy for the whole country.”
        

Justice Ginsburg’s Dissent


Justice Ginsburg’s dissent argued that punitive damages had traditionally been within the domain of the states and argued that the Court was intruding into that domain “in the face of reform measures recently adopted or currently under consideration in legislative arenas.”  Ginsburg stated that the Alabama Supreme Court had properly limited the award after determining that out-of-state conduct should not have been used as a multiplier, and the Court should not have upset that determination.  

The Litigants’ Reaction

The attorneys representing BMW were pleased with the Court’s opinion.  But to some the Court’s ultimate decision did not come as a surprise.  Hill, the associate that represented BMW at the trial court level, later stated that he knew when the Court granted certiorari that it “did not grant certiorari in our case to affirm it” and when he heard the news he “did a backflip.”
  

Unsurprisingly, Dr. Gore and his team of attorneys were disappointed, although like Hill, Bolt had thought that the Court’s grant of certiorari did not bode well for Dr. Gore.
  But despite the loss, Bolt promised that the legal fight would continue.
  “We’ve been arguing with a five thousand pound gorilla for ten years,” Bolt said.
  “We aren’t going to stop now.”
 

Public Reaction

After the opinion was rendered, people throughout the nation sought to determine the impact of the decision—both as a legal and a practical manner.  The nation’s major newspapers generally reacted favorably to the Court’s opinion.
  The Wall Street Journal reported that it “ought to make fee-hungry plaintiff’s lawyers think twice before rushing into court, and it should help companies cut a better deal in future settlement negotiations.”
  But some newspapers criticized the decision for intruding within an area historically within the purview of state law.  Newsday stated that “by making the size of punitive damage awards a constitutional question … the [C]ourt usurped power that belongs to states and set itself up as the arbiter of what is fair, which is different from what is constitutional.”
  An op-ed piece ran by The Washington Post echoed this sentiment.
  The New York Times ran an even-handed assessment of the decisions impact, but the article ended with a telling quote from John Coffee, a Columbia University School of Law professor and a class action litigation expert.
  He stated, that the decision “does not end punitive damages.  It just establishes a new calculus under Federal Law to decide their constitutionality.”

Meanwhile, the media asked tort reform advocates and opponents for their opinion.  Unsurprisingly, both sides spun the decision’s impact in a way that supported their interests.  Sherman Joyce, president of the American Tort Reform Association, stated that “what this decision did more than anything else was ask judges to apply a standard of common sense in defining what really is egregious conduct.”
  Pamela Anagos Liapakis, president of the Association of Trial Lawyers in America stated that “no manufacturer should read this decision and think they can get away with knowingly making a defective product that injures or kills.  The decision simply states that the jury in this [Alabama] case should have received more information on how much of an award was needed to deter future misconduct. … The court today went out of its way to state that each case should be decided on its own facts, and that’s precisely what the American people want.”
 
The Limit

How much of a limit the Supreme Court placed on punitive damages also proved debatable.  While the Wall Street Journal touted the decision as a warning to plaintiffs’ attorneys, the decision drew fire from some legal scholars.  One noteworthy reaction was that of Judge Frank H. Easterbrook, a federal appellate court judge in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit and former University of Chicago law professor, who thought that the ruling would not have any effect at all. 
  At an annual Constitutional Convention put on by U.S. Law Week that year, Judge Easterbrook agreed with Justice Scalia’s idea that “the majority made all this up.”
  But Judge Easterbrook stated that Scalia failed to indicate anything unique about punitive damages that would prevent the Court from simply “making up some more constitutional law.” 
  

  Judge Easterbrook was also critical of the majority’s opinion.  He agreed with Stevens’s statement that punitive damages could not be used to punish conduct that occurs outside the state, but questioned the criteria that Stevens adopted to review punitive damage awards, wondering whether the Constitution required such a list, and whether the criteria provided any more law than Alabama already had.  Judge Easterbrook opined, “Do they do anything to control punitive damages?”
  And, after determining that the opinion offered nothing more than “an open-ended list of criteria,” questioned “whether [it was] law.”
  Believing that the case was “not something that will produce substantial law in the future,” he labeled the case a “fizzle.”
  

Other commentators and legal scholars echoed this belief. 
  One commentator stated that “while the Supreme Court’s ruling may be a step towards clarification of the law in this confusing area, it is at best a small step,” speculating that “the lack of predictability … [would] likely continue for some time.” 



Guideposts v. Factors

In the end, there are only small differences between the United States Supreme Court’s “guideposts” and the “factors” supposedly applied by the Supreme Court of Alabama.  More precisely, the three “guideposts” established in BMW v. Gore already appear to be included within the seven Green Oil “factors” that the Alabama Supreme Court applied in their review of the same award.  Thus, the Supreme Court’s opinion may be best understood as a message to lower courts as to how to apply factors that were already in existence, not as an opinion in which the Court created a revolutionary new framework for examining whether any given punitive damage award is excessive.   For that reason, this section will compare how the Alabama Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court applied similar factors to the same award.

First, it is apparent that the two courts applied the reprehensibility factor differently.  In particular, the United States Supreme Court relied on objective criteria for determining the level of reprehensibility of a defendant’s conduct (i.e., whether the loss purely economic, whether other state statutes prohibit the behavior, etc.), whereas the Alabama Supreme Court did not consider such factors and, instead, seemed to apply its own normative assessment of reprehensibility.  The Alabama Supreme Court’s application of this factor, however, is unsurprising given the broad language of Green Oil explaining the reprehensibility factor.
  By not defining the term “hazard” (as to whether “hazard” includes health and safety or economic loss), the Alabama Supreme Court could flexibly determine what conduct was hazardous without having to parse differing levels of reprehensibility.  Without objective criteria for determining what is hazardous, the reprehensibility analysis was relegated to an entirely subjective determination.  The Alabama Supreme Court’s failure to parse the differing levels of reprehensibility remains problematic, however, given that the United States Supreme Court in TXO Production Corp. v. Alliance Resources Corp., 509 U.S. 443 (1993) and Pacific Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Haslip, 499 U.S. 1(1991) had implicitly gauged the level of reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct.

The second “guidepost” articulated by the United States Supreme Court—the disparity between the harm or potential harm and the punitive damage award—was also formally analyzed by the Alabama Supreme Court.  But, as shown earlier, the Alabama Supreme Court never genuinely analyzed the award in light of that Green Oil factor, and instead chose to downplay the significance of the factor as a tool for analyzing whether a punitive damage award is excessive.  What is interesting to note, however, is the fact that the same analysis proposed by the United State Supreme Court in Gore was previously set forth in TXO and is directly set forth in Green Oil itself.
  In short, as a practical matter, the Alabama Supreme Court did not apply the reasonable relationship “factor” at all.  

   The third “guidepost” applied by the Court is the difference between the punitive damage award and the civil penalties awarded in similar cases.  Amongst the three “guideposts” that are also included within the Green Oil factors, this “guidepost” is the most different in application.  The United States Supreme Court’s “guidepost” requires that a reviewing court compare the punitive damage award to other criminal and civil sanctions for the same conduct, to see whether those other potential sanctions are also substantial and justify a large punitive damage award.   The Alabama Supreme Court by contrast looked to actual punishment of this defendant in other ways as a factor that could mitigate the punitive damage award.   This is an important distinction.  Given that a civil and criminal fine will rarely, if ever, require the payment of an amount in the millions, the Supreme Court’s approach operates to reduce a large punitive damage award.  In contrast, the Alabama Supreme Court’s approach would hardly reduce an excessive award. 

Alabama’s Role

The Alabama Supreme Court’s failure to correctly apply the Green Oil factors raises questions as to the role that the state of Alabama played in the case.  Alabama will be examined in this section, in the hope that it will provide a context for the litigation that occurred in Alabama and, therefore, insight as to how the case came to be.

First, it is important to appreciate from the outset that when it comes to punitive damage awards, Alabama is unlike any other state.  From 1987 to 1993 Alabama juries awarded $101,390,144 in punitive damages, six times the amount awarded during the same time period in Georgia, Mississippi, and Tennessee combined. 
  According to Jury Verdict Research, from 1990 to 1994 Alabama juries awarded punitive damages ten times more often than the national average.
  Figures such as these led commentators to label Alabama “tort hell” and proclaim that for businesses and manufacturers “a big, unmistakable sign [hangs] on Alabama’s doors” reading “Do Not Enter.”
  George Priest, a Yale Law School Professor who is pro-defendant in his scholarship and has served as an expert witness for defendant interests, stated that “the situation in Alabama [was] very close to being out of control.”
  BMW v. Gore only added to this public perception.

Yet to understand why Alabama juries rendered such large punitive damage awards, it is first important to grasp Alabama’s political history.
  The citizens of Alabama have strong populist tendencies—tendencies that were exploited by George C. Wallace, the governor of Alabama in the 1970s, as well as by trial lawyers.
  According to the Washington Post, along with many other commentators, “the most successful plaintiffs’ lawyers came to specialize in stem-winding summations urging juries in low-income counties to punish greedy, out-of-state corporations by assessing huge punitive damages against them.”
  This is certainly evidenced by the closing statement Dr. Gore’s attorney, and according to Quillen, one of the attorneys that represented BMW, at least three or four members of the jury in Dr. Gore’s case likely owned homes that cost less than $40,000.
  On the other hand, Jefferson County is not impoverished, and it is still an open question as to why, in any event, a BMW bought by a doctor—which cost more than some of the homes of the jurors—would stir populist anger.
 

Regardless, one would think that irrational jury verdicts imposed by Alabama juries would be corrected by the appellate courts upon review.  However, Alabama trial courts have historically taken a “pro-punitive damages” stance and the Alabama Supreme Court has proven reluctant to limit punitive damage awards.
  Instead, some have argued that the court’s review of punitive damage verdicts only furthered public perception that such awards were not exceptional.  George Priest, in his article “Punitive Damages Reform: The Case of Alabama,” argued that the Alabama punitive damage phenomenon can be attributed to a “snowball” effect.
  According to him, the Alabama Supreme Court’s “permissive review” of punitive damage awards led Alabama citizens to view large punitive damage awards as the “norm, rather than the exception.”
  

The court’s “permissive review,” however, is not due to a difference in state law.  On the face of it, Alabama tort law does not differ significantly from that of other states and, in fact, Alabama case law pertaining to punitive damage issues is more developed than many other jurisdictions.
  To understand why the Alabama Supreme Court chose a policy of “permissive review”, it is important to appreciate the dominance of tort reform as an issue within the recent history of Alabama politics and, in particular, how that relates to the membership of the Alabama Supreme Court, a body whose members are elected, at the time in which BMW v. Gore was decided.
 


Tort reform first became an issue within Alabama politics in the early 1980s.  It was at that time that plaintiffs’ lawyers first began to win large punitive damage verdicts—mostly resulting from actions brought against insurance firms for fraudulent insurance practices.  As a result of these verdicts, business political action committees and trial lawyers began to fund judicial and legislative candidates that supported their respective views on tort reform.
  Such financial support led to an era of expensive elections, with an emphasis on what some might call dirty politics. 

The first major election funded by the two interest groups occurred in 1988.  In that election, Ernst “Sonny” Hornsby, funded by trial attorneys, beat his opponent, funded by business political action committees, to be elected chief justice of the Alabama Supreme Court. The head of the state’s association of trial attorneys, Hornsby had won many fraud verdicts that produced large damage awards in the past.  A highly contentious election, Hornsby and his opponent spent approximately $800,000—more money than had ever before been spent on such a campaign.  

The expense of the election may be best attributed to both Hornsby’s professional history and developments within the Alabama state legislature.  Prior to Hornsby’s election, the legislature had placed a $250,000 cap on punitive damage awards—with many of those voting for the legislation having had their own campaigns backed by business interests.  The passage of the tort reform bill motivated trial attorneys to raise large amounts of money to support Hornsby, just as Hornsby’s professional history likely served as a rallying cry for those aligned with business interests.

With Hornsby at the helm of the Alabama Supreme Court, the court declared many of the tort-reform provisions unconstitutional, leading to another wave of large punitive damage verdicts, including the verdict in BMW v. Gore.  In 1994 Hornsby lost his post to Perry O. Hooper, Sr. in another election where the candidates were funded by the respective interest groups.  Yet the defining feature of the election is the narrow margin by which Hornsby lost and the manner in which it was decided.  The election was so close that it was only decided after a federal court determined that 2,000 absentee ballots were invalid as a result of their failure to be correctly notarized or witnessed.  Previously, the Alabama Supreme Court voted to count those ballots, a move that would have resulted in Hornsby winning the election, and a vote that included justices that donated money to Hornsby’s campaign.

The dirtiest political tactics, however, arguably occurred in 1996.  The race was between the incumbent Kenneth Ingram, a Hornsby supporter, and Harold See, a professor at the University of Alabama, who was supported by business.  Both sides used advertisements to create an image of the other candidate within the minds of Alabama voters.  Ingram was depicted as being under the control of “rich personal injury lawyers … trying to buy the Alabama Supreme Court.”
  See was depicted as being under the control of “giant insurance companies and big businesses” trying to prohibit the voters of their “right to a trial by jury.”
 

An examination of two advertisements released by Ingram’s supporters display the mud-slinging that occurred in the campaign.  The first advertisement was created and distributed by the “Committee for Family Values,” a committee that was financed by a group of trial lawyers, and targeted See’s “secret” past.  According to the ad, See “abandoned his wife and two children, had a love affair … and fled Illinois for Alabama” twenty years prior.
  The advertisement was distributed within churches throughout Alabama.  The second advertisement contained a picture of a skunk that faded into a picture of See, along with the statement: “Some things you can smell a mile away … Harold See doesn’t think average Alabamians are smart enough to serve on juries.”
  The title “Slick Chicago Lawyer” was placed over See’s image.

In contrast to how the campaigns sunk to a new low, the money spent on the campaigns reached a new high.  Between the two of them the candidates spent over $4.2 million, a new record at the time for such campaigns, and a figure usually reserved for campaigns seeking to elect their candidate to the Senate. 
 But the campaigns were not funded entirely by Alabamains.  The national perception surrounding Alabama punitive damage verdicts in 1996—fueled by cases such as BMW v. Gore—resulted in the donation of large amounts of money by national interest groups, trial lawyers, and business groups to Alabama candidates.  Such money allowed the candidates to employ national party strategists, which was unusual for state judicial campaigns.  This was noted at the time by John Deardoff, the national strategist employed by See. 

Ultimately, See was successful, receiving fifty three percent of the vote.  Although the plaintiff-friendly justices of the Alabama Supreme Court still maintained the majority of seats on the court, their number had been reduced to a slim one-vote advantage.  Yet while large amounts of money might be good for the candidates that seek public office, others questioned if the campaigns were good for Alabama.  Natalie Davis, a political scientist who made an unsuccessful bid for the U.S. Senate in the 1996 Democratic primary, stated that the struggle “is literally killing politics in Alabama.”
  She stated that “the trial lawyers and the Business Council control most of the money in politics.  The trial lawyers pick the Democrat and the Business Council picks the Republican and it’s all about your stand on tort reform.”
  William Lightfoot, the Alabama Bar Association President at the time, stated that Alabama “courts will not be able to function if justices have to engage in this kind of campaigning.”

Whether this is true or not, it is clear that Alabama politicians have spent a considerable amount of time paying lip service to the issue of tort reform, particularly in relationship to punitive damages.  Thus, BMW v. Gore might be viewed as an example of a case in which an Alabama trial attorney was successful at stirring the populist anger of a jury and directing that anger at a big out-of-state corporation.  While the lack of juror poverty and disconnect between Dr. Gore and the populace may render that conclusion speculative, Alabama’s history may be more enlightening in regard to Alabama Supreme Court’s cursory review of his award.  In this light, the case can be viewed as an example of how a court’s majority, elected to office by plaintiff-friendly special interests, used its election to satisfy such interests by engaging in a systematic “permissive review” of punitive damage awards.  Given that, it was not clear that any “guidepost” established by the United States Supreme Court would have an impact in Alabama.

The Alabama Supreme Court’s Response 
With the plaintiff-friendly justices of the Alabama Supreme Court still maintaining a one-vote advantage, the court reviewed BMW v. Gore for the second time in May of 1997.  In a unanimous decision, the court still found that the BMW NA’s conduct “was reprehensible enough to justify the imposition of punitive damages,” but unlike the $2,000,000 in punitive damages initially awarded by the court, the court this time stated that the proper penalty was $50,000.  The court stated that the figure was reached due to the fact that the damage was “merely cosmetic” and the loss was purely economic.  

Although manufacturers hoped that the Alabama Supreme Court would use the case to set a limit on the amount at which the award can exceed compensatory damages, the court refused to do so.  The court only suggested that any punitive damage award that exceeds ten-percent of a defendant’s net-worth “crosses the line from punishment to destruction, particularly when the defendant’s conduct is not highly reprehensible.”  Considering that the four million dollars awarded to Dr. Gore was no where near ten-percent of BMW NA’s net-worth, or the net-worth of any large corporate defendant, the court’s statement in no way limits the penchant of populist juries to punish large out-of-state corporations for their misdeeds.  

This matter would also remain undecided by the state legislature.  One day before the Alabama Supreme Court rendered their opinion, business groups and the governor of Alabama, Fob James, failed to persuade the state legislature to limit the punitive damages awarded by juries by capping them at $750,000.
 


Although the Alabama Supreme Court’s response might not have gone as far as manufacturers would have hoped, given the one-vote advantage maintained by the liberal faction of the court, it is interesting that the award was reduced that far.   The court was not obligated to reduce the award to fifty thousand dollars, and the court could have affirmed the two million-dollar-award under the new guidelines or reduced it by a lesser amount.  Bolt, Dr. Gore’s attorney, later speculated as to why the court chose to reduce the award so significantly.
  He stated that “they all knew how they voted on that case was going to be the number one thing used against them by opponents and some of them [thought] … somebody’s gotta be thrown under the train and it might as well be this case…. Then maybe we won’t get so much scrutiny and pressure about some others.”

Reaction

Dr. Gore’s attorney, Andrew W. Bolt II, was disappointed by the Alabama Supreme Court’s decision.  Quoted by the Wall Street Journal, he stated that “it’s a sad day, but Dr. Gore and I are proud of the stand we have taken… We think it’s unfortunate that a company can commit this kind of fraud and not get punished.  Fifty thousand dollars for a company like BMW is nothing; they probably spend that much on two weeks of lawyers fees.”
  Given the option to accept the award or retry the case, Dr. Gore ultimately decided to take the award.
  After seven years of litigation, Dr. Gore and his attorneys walked away with $54,000.
  The award was a “fraction of the out-of-pocket expenses that [Bolt’s firm] had incurred in the case.”

The Legal Aftermath 

Seven years later, in State Farm v. Campbell, 123 S.Ct. 1513 (2003), the Supreme Court clarified the “guideposts” that it had articulated in BMW v. Gore.
  Its decision to revisit the issue might be viewed as the realization of Justice Scalia’s prophecy that the original guideposts “marked a road to nowhere.”  

State Farm began in 1981 when Curtis Campbell passed six vans while driving with his wife on a two-lane highway.  As Campell attempted to pass the vans, another car, driven by Todd Ospital, approached him head-on.  In attempt to avert a collision, Ospital swerved off to the side of the road and, in the process, lost control of his vehicle and hit a third car driven by Robert G. Slusher.  As a result of the accident, Ospital was killed and Slusher was permenantly disabled.  A wrongful death and tort action ensued, and Campell’s insurance provider, State Farm, handled the claim.  Although State Farm had the option to settle the case for $50,000 (the policy limit), it refused to do so—despite evidence indicating that Campbell was at fault and the advice of its own investigators.  Instead, State Farm tried the case—consistently assuring Campbell that it would win the case and that, in any event, his assets would be protected.  Unsurprisingly, the trial court found that Campbell was liable and awarded $185,849.  But after the verdict, State Farm refused to pay more than the $50,000 policy limit and suggested that the Campbells sell their home to pay the judgment.  After obtaining his own legal representation, Campbell appealed the decision against him to the Utah Supreme Court.  While the appeal was pending, the  Campbells came to an agreement with the plaintiffs (the Slusher’s and Ospital’s), whereby the plaintiffs’ agreed not to seek satisfaction of their claims, in exchange for ninety percent of any verdict received by Campbell in a suit by him against State Farm.  The Utah Supreme Court denied the Campbell appeal, and State Farm finally paid the entire judgment.

Despite State Farm’s payment, the Campbells sued State Farm alleging bad faith, fraud, and intentional infliction of emotional distress based upon the eighteen month time period in which State Farm refused to pay the trial court’s judgment.  The jury found in favor of the Campbells and awarded them $2.6 million in compensatory damages and $145 million in punitive damages.  Although the trial court lowered the award to $1 million in compensatory damages and $25 million dollars, the Utah Supreme Court reinstated the original verdict in regard to punitive damages after applying the “guideposts” articulated by the United States Supreme Court in BMW v. Gore.  State Farm appealed to the United States Supreme Court and the Court granted certiorari.  Affirming BMW v. Gore, the Court found for the second time in its history that a punitive damage award violated the Due Process Clause of the fourteenth amendment.

In its opinion, the Court clarified the factors that it had articulated in BMW v. Gore.  The Court again stated that the degree of reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct was the most important factor.  Yet in engaging in this analysis, the Court placed particular emphasis on out-of-state activity, since the Campbells’ case relied upon their showing that the Campbells’ harm was the result of their fraudulent practice of increasing profits by limiting payouts to their insured clients nationwide.  Although the Court attempted to answer the questions it left open in Gore pertaining to extraterritorial punishment and its relationship to the reprehensibility factor, some of its answers remain unclear as they both build upon and retreat from the position that the Court took in Gore.

The Court began the reprehensibility analysis by stating that neither unlawful nor lawful out-of-state conduct can be used by a court to punish a defendant for conduct that occurred in other jurisdictions.  This at least formally answered one question left open in Gore.  But this does not mean that evidence of out-of-state conduct is always inadmissible.  Instead, the Court implicitly drew a distinction between punishment and admissibility for purposes of assessing the reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct.  

In regard to lawful out-of-state conduct, the Court directly stated that such conduct may be used to assess reprehensibility.  The Court stated similar lawful out-of-state conduct “may be probative when it demonstrates the deliberateness and culpability of the defendant’s action in the State where it is tortuous” if there is a sufficient “nexus to the specific harm suffered by the plaintiff.”  This position is counter to Gore—which suggested that lawful out-of-state conduct should not be considered when assessing reprehensibility.  

Although it was not directly stated, the Court also implied that similar unlawful out-of-state conduct can be considered in factoring reprehensibility.  Again, this came with the caveat that such conduct cannot be used to punish the defendant.  Nevertheless, the consideration of both lawful and unlawful out-of-state conduct will often increase the jury’s sense of the defendant’s reprehensibility and, thereby, the amount of punitive damages it awards.  Thus, the distinction seems more theoretical than actual—in regard to both the consideration of unlawful and lawful conduct in assessing reprehensibility.  But, in any event, by further requiring that reprehensibility only be gauged on the basis of similar misconduct, the Court put an end to the practice of presenting evidence of dissimilar bad business practices (e.g., employment discrimination) to increase the size of the punitive damage award.
  And this was a common occurrence in the post-Gore world of punitive damages.
  

 State Farm also clarified the second “guidepost” articulated in Gore.  Although the Court did not state the exact ratio permissible, the Court did state that “few awards exceeding a single-digit ratio between punitive and compensatory damages, to a significant degree, will satisfy due process.”  The Court also reaffirmed the idea it put forth in Gore that the ratio could be higher if the conduct was particularly egregious but the harm was economically slight or hard to determine monetarily.  Therefore, in a situation like State Farm—where the compensatory damages are high—the Court stated that “a lesser ratio, perhaps only equal to compensatory damages, can reach the outermost limit of the due process guarantee.”

Although this opinion was rendered after the Alabama Supreme Court considered Dr. Gore’s punitive damage award on remand, it is interesting to note that the ultimate award in Gore of $50,000 would have violated the single-digit ratio test proposed by the Court, as the ratio was ultimately 12 to 1.  Nevertheless, this ratio does not exceed the test proposed by the Court to “a significant degree” and, thus, might survive in the absence of a bright-line rule.  On the other hand, the conduct was not particularly egregious, and, thus, it does not seem that the ratio should have fallen at the top of the scale.  Therefore, State Farm seems to imply that Dr. Gore’s award should have been reduced even further.  How much further is unclear, and this lack of clarity might be viewed as a weakness in the Court’s opinion.

The Court then revisited the third guidepost—the sanctions for comparable misconduct.  In Utah, the civil sanction relevant to the defendant’s conduct was $10,000.  While the $145 million dollar punitive damage award was quite disparate from the civil sanction, the Utah Supreme Court had considered the potential loss of business license and imprisonment based on a broad fraudulent scheme of dissimilar out-of-state conduct to support the punitive damage award.  The Court returned to the language it employed in its reprehensibility section to state that dissimilar out-of-state conduct should not be considered, even when illegal in other states.   The Court stated that “[p]unitive damages are not a substitute for the criminal process, and the remote possibility of a criminal sanction does not automatically sustain a punitive damage award.”

The Court’s analysis in State Farm indicates its belief that the “guideposts” it articulated in Gore were in need of clarification.  Yet the most striking attribute of the opinion is that it reveals that lower courts were not merely misapplying the Gore guideposts in their review of punitive damages, but that lower courts and plaintiffs’ attorneys were in fact utilizing the factors to support very large punitive damage awards.  While this means Gore did not have the impact the Court initially intended, it also leads one to wonder what impact State Farm will ultimately have.  While State Farm provides more clarification for courts faced with determining whether the size of a punitive damage award violates due process, there is still flexibility—as flexibility is needed for courts to assess the size of punitive damages that arise in factually different situations.
  Nevertheless, flexibility means that a lower court can still rubber-stamp a patently excessive punitive damage award if it were determined to do so—as was the case in the Alabama Supreme Court’s initial review of BMW v. Gore.  Thus, the Court’s clear statement to lower courts to rein in punitive damages may continue to go unheeded.
 

Conclusion

Dr. Gore continues to practice medicine in Birmingham, although he now drives a Lexus.
  He has remained in contact with his attorney A.W. Bolt, and went on to treat Bolt’s mother after she was diagnosed with cancer.
  Leonard Slick also remains in Birmingham, where he continues to own and operate his automotive detailing shop, Slick Finish.
  By now, many of the attorneys work for different law firms, with the biggest career change made by Samuel Hill who, after spending his life as a young attorney defending business-interests, now represents plaintiffs in class action litigation.
  Even the famous BMW remains in Birmingham, now owned by John Haley, co-counsel in Dr. Gore’s trial.
  The BMW’s vanity plate marks the car’s importance in legal history, reading: “Gores BMW”      

  � Tony Mauro, Court to Weigh Punitive Damages: BMW Case Tests Legal Wild Card, USA Today, October 11, 1995.  Unless otherwise noted, descriptions of the case are derived from the published court opinions or the parties’ appellate briefs.


  � Dr. Ira Gore v. BMW NA: Distinctive Aspects of American Law, Duke Law 2004, Produced by Tom Metzloff, Sarah Wood, Julia Norton, and Todd Shoemaker. Dr. Ira Gore v. BMW NA: Distinctive Aspects of American Law is a documentary that was created by Professor Metzloff, a faculty member of Duke Law School, for his international law class.  The documentary includes interviews with many of the people instrumental to Dr. Gore case, including AW Bolt, Dr. Gore, Michael Quillen, Leonard Slick and David Cordero.  This paper cites all instances in which a quote originates from this documentary. 
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  � Interview with Andrew W. Bolt II, March 24, 2004.  It should be noted that Bolt thought title transferred when the cars left Germany, he was somewhat unsure, thinking that title might have instead transferred while the cars were at sea.


  � Dr. Ira Gore v. BMW NA: Distinctive Aspects of American Law, Duke Law 2004, supra note 2.


  � Throughout the litigation, Dr. Gore’s counsel argued that BMW NA had not engaged in such research in setting their policy.


  � Editorial, Dr. Gore and Mr. Slick, Wall Street Journal, October 11, 1995.


  � The complaint was filed on December 17, 1990.
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  � Rivers and the other BMW owners that served as  witnesses at Dr. Gore’s trial were contacted by Bolt’s firm after the judge ordered BMW NA to give the plaintiff repair orders for refinished BMWs during the case’s discovery phase.  Interview with Michael Quillen, supra note 12. 


  � Hill Interview, supra note 17.
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  � Bolt Interview, supra note 24.
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  � Scarfo’s experience was mirrored by the testimony of Chris Goode and Penny Rivers, former owners of refinished BMWs sold to them without disclosure.  Goode testified that he bought a red BMW and that, over time, the refinished portions faded, resulting in “three different shades of red.”  Although he called BMW repeatedly, he never received a response.  Rivers also served as a “pattern and practice” witness since she testified that that she had asked for a new BMW, her request was refused, and she ended up trading in her BMW for a Nissan Maxima. 


  � Bolt Interview, supra note 24.
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  � Haley seemingly based the four million-dollar claim on the idea that BMW fraudulently earned four million-dollars by selling 1,000 repainted BMWs at full price (around $40,000) when the cars were actually worth ten percent less (i.e., $4,000).


  � The verdict was returned on June 12, 1992.


  � It should be noted that BMW had already changed its policy in regard to Alabama and two other states prior to the rendering of the verdict.  BMW contended that the change (both as to those states and the later nationwide policy) did not affect the price ultimately paid for the cars.  Hill Interview, supra note 17.  If this change resulted in the disclosure of repairs by the dealer to consumers, it seems unlikely, however, that consumers would not use this knowledge to strengthen their bargaining position in negotiating the cost of the car.  Bolt, Dr. Gore’s attorney, later stated that the only thing BMW was “able to say with absolute correctness … [is that] they refused to discount their cars to their dealer.”  Bolt Interview, supra note 24.  He speculated that the consumer, armed with that information, could then negotiate with the dealer.      
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  � Dr. Yates’s case was tried six weeks before Dr. Gore’s case.


  � Dr. Yates received $4,600 in compensatory damages.


  � Michael Quillen was also unable to persuade the judge in Dr. Yates’s case that the case should be tried under a warranty claim, although he was allowed to put the warranty into evidence.  
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  � E-mail with Michael Quillen, September 29, 2004.
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  � Quillen Interview, supra note 2.
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  � The information provided in this section regarding the post-trial hearing is from Bruce McKee, The Implications of BMW v. Gore for Future Punitive Damages Litigation: Observations from a Participant, 48 Ala. L. Rev. 175, 182-185 (1996).


  � This occurred in October 1992. 


  � German Auto did not appeal the verdict.


  � These actions were filed in both Alabama and Georgia.  At the time, Georgia, like Alabama, did not have a nondisclosure statute but in 1994 the Georgia legislature passed such a statute, mandating disclosure of paint damage whose repair cost more than $500.  Ga.Code Ann. §§ 40-1-5(b)-(e) (1994).  For actions filed in Alabama see Wilkinson v. Bayerische Motoren Werke A.G., No. CV-92-896 (Tuscaloosa Cir. Ct., July 23, 1992); Barnes v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. CV-92-8683 (Jefferson Cir. Ct., Nov. 5, 1992); Rutkowski v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. CV-92-241 (Coffee Cir. Ct., Nov. 17, 1992); Clark v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. CV-92-616 (Morgan Cir. Ct., Dec. 22, 1992); Jones v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. CV-93-H-202-E (N.D.Ala.; removed Jan. 28, 1993).  For actions filed in Georgia see Lassiter v. Bayerische Motoren Werke A.G., No. CV-E-3990 (Fulton City.Super.Ct., July 28, 1992); Lee v. Bayerische Motoren Werke A.G., No. CV-92-17709-18 (Cobb Cty.Super.Ct., Nov. 4, 1992); Gershan v. Bayerische Motoren Werke A.G., No. CV-E-4119 (Fulton Cty.Super.Ct., Aug. 5, 1992); Higgins v. Bayerische Motoren Werke A.G., No. 9216480-18 (Cobb Cty.Super.Ct., Sept. 17, 1992); Rivers v. Bayerische Motoren Werke A.G., No. 92-7173-2 (DeKalb Cty.Super.Ct., July 6, 1992); Dempsey v. Bayerische Motoren Werke A.G., No. SUP-92-CV-2007 (Clarke Cty.Super.Ct., Nov. 2, 1992); Caller v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. 93vs67839B (Fulton Cty. State Ct., Jan. 15, 1993); Fisher v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. 93vs67842F (Fulton Cty. State Ct., Jan. 15, 1993); Harmon  v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. 93vs67841C (Fulton Cty. State Ct., Jan. 15, 1993); Kaufmann v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. 93vs67843H (Fulton Cty. State Ct., Jan. 15, 1993); O’Dell v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. 93vs67847B (Fulton Cty. State Ct., Jan. 15, 1993); Simons  v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. 93vs67844A (Fulton Cty. State Ct., Jan. 15, 1993); Thornton v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. 93vs0067736 (Fulton Cty. State Ct., Jan. 15, 1993); White v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. 93vs67846C (Fulton Cty. State Ct., Jan. 15, 1993); and Sehgal v. BMW of North America, Inc., No. 93vs67869 (Fulton Cty. State Ct., Jan. 15, 1993).


  � Quillen Interview, supra note 12.


  � See ARIZ. REV. STAT. ANN. S 28-1304.03 (3% of MSRP); ARK. CODE ANN. s 23-112-705 (6% of sticker price); CAL. VEH. CODE ss 990-9991 (3% of MSRP or $500, whichever is greater); IDAHO CODE s 49-1624 (6% of MSRP); IND. CODE ANN. ss 9-23-4-4, 9-23-4-5 (4% of MSRP); IOWA CODE ANN. s 321.69 ($3,000 for cars sold as used); KY. REV. STAT. ANN. s 190.0491(5) (6% of sticker price); LA. REV. STAT. ANN. s 32:1260 (6% of MSRP); MINN. STAT. ANN. s 325F.664 (4% of MSRP or $500, whichever is greater); N.H. REV. STAT. ANN. s 357-C:5 (III) (d) (6% of MSRP); N.Y. GEN. BUS. LAW s 396-p (5) (a), (d) (5% of lesser of MSRP or distributor’s suggested retail price); N.C. GEN. STAT. S 20-305.1(d) (5a) (3% of MSRP); OHIO REV. CODE ANN. s 4517.61 (6% of MSRP); OKLA. STAT ANN. tit. 47, s 1112.1 (3% of MSRP or $500, whichever is greater); R.I. GEN. LAWS s 31-5.1 – 18(d), (f) (6% of MSRP); VT. STAT. ANN. tit. 9, s 4087(d) (5% of first $10,000 of MSRP and 2% of any amount above $10,000); VA. CODE ANN. s 46.2-1571 (D) (3% of MSRP); Wis. ADMIN. CODE s TRANSP. 139.05 (6) (6% of MSRP); WYO. STAT. S 31-16-115 (6% of MSRP). 


  � See FLA. STAT. ANN. s 320.27 (9) (n) (dealer must disclose repairs costing more than 3% of MSRP of which it has actual knowledge, but must disclose repairs involving application of touch-up paint” if the cost of the touch-up paint application exceeds $100); OR. REV. STAT. S 650.155 (requiring disclosure of the nature and extent of all “post-manufacturing repairs”).


  � ALA. CODE s §8-19-5 (22) (c).  


  � ALA. CODE s 8-19-11 (b).  


  � Hill Interview, supra note 17.


  � Id.


  � Bolt Interview, supra note 24.


  � Id.


  � Hill Interview, supra note 17.


  � Bolt Interview, supra note 24.


  � Id.


  � The statute is silent as to whether the manufacturer or distributor is required to consider their internal cost of repair or the actual cost of repair is done at an independent repair shop.


  � For example, Bolt stated that he estimated that the cost of repairing Dr. Gore’s car would have cost more than $1,200 at an independent automotive shop.  This would have placed the cost of repair over the 3% threshold.  


  � In addition to the briefs submitted by the litigants, the court also received and reviewed amicus curaie briefs.


  � BMW NA was a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW AG.


  � ALA. CODE 1975, §6-11-20.  This is the standard that must be met to award punitive damages in Alabama.


  � As previously described, the statute required manufacturers to disclose repairs costing more than $500 or three percent MSRP, whichever number was greater. 


  � “‘The following should be taken into consideration by the trial court in determining whether the jury award of punitive damages is excessive or inadequate: (1) Punitive damages should bear a reasonable relationship to the harm that is likely to occur from the defendant’s conduct as well as to the harm that actually has occurred.  If the actual or likely harm is slight, the damages should be relatively small.  If grievous, the damages should be much greater.  (2) The degree of reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct should be considered.  The duration of the conduct, the degree of the defendant’s awareness of any hazard which his conduct has caused or is likely to cause, and any concealment or ‘cover-up’ of that hazard, and the existence and frequency of similar past conduct should all be relevant in determining the degree of reprehensibility.  (3) If the wrongful conduct was profitable to the defendant, the punitive damages should remove the profit and should be in excess of the profit, so that the defendant recognizes a loss. (4) The financial position of the defendant would be relevant.  (5) All the costs of litigation should be included, so as to encourage wrongdoers to trial.  (6) If criminal sanctions have been imposed on the defendant for his conduct, this should be taken into account in mitigation of the punitive damage award. (7) If there have been other civil actions against the defendant, based on the same conduct, this should be taken into account in mitigation of the punitive damage award.’”  Green Oil, 539 So.2d at 538-539 (quoting Aetna Like Insurance Co. v. Lavoie, 505 So.2d 1050, 1062 (Ala.1987) (Houston, J., concurring separately).  





  � Not only does the court not state what monetary judgments were awarded, it does not even indicate that any monetary judgments were awarded, or whether the cases ever made it to trial.


  � 642 So.2d 937 (Ala. Civ. App.), cert. quashed, 642 So.2d 937. 


  � Michael C. Quillon and Samuel M. Hill of Walston, Stabler, Wells, Anderson, & Bains represented BMW NA in the petition for certiorari, as did Andrew L. Frey, Kenneth S. Gallagher, and Evan M. Tager of Mayer, Brown, & Platt.  With the exception of Kenneth S. Gallagher, these attorneys also represented BMW NA in the Alabama Supreme Court.      


  � Frey worked in the Washington D.C. office.


  � Information about Frey in this section is derived from his law firm’s website.  For more information, see http://mayerbrown.com/litigation/attorneys/profiles.asp.


  � Marcia Coyle, Foe of Punitives Tries to Nudge the Court: Andrew Frey Carefully Builds a Body of Law as He Aims for the Prize—A Win From the Justices, The National Law Journal, October 16, 1995. 


  � Id. 


  � Information about Gottesman is derived from the Georgetown University Law Center’s faculty web site.  For more information, see http://141.161.16.100/curriculum/tab_faculty.cfm?Status=Faculty&Detail=259.


  � Dr. Gore’s legal representation for filing the briefing opposing BMW NA’s petition for certiorari were Andrew W. Bolt II and Stephen K. Wollstein of Bolt, Isom, Jackson, and Bailey, as well as John W. Haley and Bruce J. McKee of Hare, Wynn, Newell, & Newton.  When the court granted certiorari, Michael H. Gottesman, Kenneth Cheseboro, and Johnathon S. Massey joined the team, and Gottesman replaced McKee as counsel of record. 


  � Bolt Interview, supra note 24.


  � Coyle, supra note 118.


  � This will occasionally be referred to as the “extraterritoriality argument.”  According to Hill, he and the BMW attorneys “made it up … to make [the petition for certiorari] look sexy.”  Hill was shocked when the Court actually granted certiorari on the issue, since “it really was an evidentiary argument elevated to constitutional stature.”  Hill Interview, supra note 17.


  � Paul M. Barrett, Justices Appear to Lack a Theory To Set Caps on Damage Awards, The Wall Street Journal, October 12, 1995.


  � Quillen Interview, supra note 12.


  � Id.


  � Bolt Interview, supra note 24.


  � Tony Mauro, No Clear Finish in BMW Damages Case, USA Today, October 12, 1995.


  � All seventy-two Freshman Republicans elected that year campaigned on tort reform.


  � Jane Bowling, Judges May Not Second Jury’s Vindication for VF Corp. Fraud, Daily Record, October 28, 1995.


  � Dr. Ira Gore v. BMW NA: Distinctive Aspects of American Law, supra note 2.


  � Bowling, supra note 131.


  �  Mauro, supra note 1. 


  � Joan Biskupic, The Case of the $4 Million BMW; Award to Owner of Repainted Car Is at Heart of Punitive Damages Debate, The Washington Post, May 29, 1995.


  � Id.


  � Mauro, supra note 1.
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  � The House of Representatives failed by 23 votes to override President Clinton’s veto.


  � BMW NA v. Gore, 517 U.S. 559 (1996).  See generally Jim Davis, BMW v. Gore: Why the States (Not the U.S. Supreme Court) Should Review Substantive Due Process Challenges to Large Punitive Damage Awards, 46 U. Kan. L. Rev. 395 (1998); David A. Harkin, BMW v. North America, Inc. v. Gore: A Trial Judge’s Guide to Jury Instructions and Judicial review of Punitive Damage Awards, 60 Mont. L. Rev. 367 (1999); Brandon Hobbs, BMW v. North America, Inc. v. Gore: Sticker Shock in America—From Showroom to Courtroom, 23 J. Contemp. L. 236 (1997); Stephanie L. Nagel, BMW v. Gore: The United States Supreme Court Overturns an Award of Punitive Damages as Violative of the Due Process Clause of the Constitution, 71 Tul. L. Rev. 1025 (1997); Rob S. Register, BMW v. North America, Inc. v. Gore: The Supreme Court Rejects a Punitive Damage Award on Due Process Grounds, 48 Mercer L. Rev. 1273 (1997); Peter J. Savejevic, Failing the Smell Test: Punitive Damage Awards Raise the United States Supreme Court’s Suspicious Judicial Eyebrow in BMW North America, Inc. v. Gore, 116 S.Ct. 1589 (1996), 20 Hamline L. Rev. 507 (1996); Glen R. Whitehead, BMW of North America v. Gore: Is the Supreme Court Initiating Judicial Tort Reform?, 16 QLR 533 (1997); Sandra Wilhide, BMW v. Gore: Curbing Excessive Punitive Damages, 19 U. Haw. L. Rev. 311 (1997).


  � The politics of Justice Kennedy, Justice Souter, and Justice O’Connor are not as easy to identify. 


  � Bolt Interview, supra note 24.


  � This is affirmatively stated in footnote 20 of the opinion.  “Given that the verdict was based in part on put-of-state conduct that was lawful where it occurred, we need not consider whether one State may properly attempt to change a tortfeasor’s unlawful conduct in another state.”


  � Stevens did address the fact that other states had adopted such statutes in the reprehensibility analysis, stating that “the record contains no evidence that BMW’s decision to follow a disclosure policy that coincided with the strictest exant state statute was sufficiently reprehensible to justify a $2 million award of punitive damages.”


  � Stevens simply noted the ratio that results when one applies the award to the other 14 cars sold in Alabama.  He states, “Even assuming each repainted BMW suffers a diminution in value of approximately $4,000, the award is 35 times greater than the total damages of all 14 consumers who purchased repainted BMWs.”


  � According to Breyer such standards might have included economic theory, community understanding, historic practice, or legislative enactments.


  � See Patricia Manson, High Court ‘Originalist’ Has Recipe For Making Good Law, Chicago Daily Law Bulletin, March 12, 1998.


  � Id.


  � Id.


  � Hill Interview, supra note 17.


  � Bolt Interview, supra note 24.


  � Kevin Johnson, Earl Eldridge, High Court Reins in Punitive Damages: Ruling in BMW Case Divides Legal Arena, Money, May 21, 1996.


  � Id.


  � Id.


  � High Court’s Decision on Punitive Damages Generally Well Received by Nation’s Major Newspapers, West’s Legal News, July 24, 1996.


  � Id.


  � Id.


  � George F. Will, Wild Court, The Washington Post, May 26, 1996.  It should be noted that The Washington Post and 17 other media organizations filed an amicus brief on behalf of BMW, as noted in an editorial piece entitled Grossly Excessive that ran in The Washington Post on May 23, 1996.  In that editorial piece, the writer stated the “preposterous paint job penalty was too much even for the justices.”


  � Barry Meier, Companies Likely To Seek Federal Court Reviews, The New York Times, May 21, 1996.


  � Id.


  � Johnson, supra note 152.
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  � This is section is primarily derived from Constitutional Law Scholars Attempt To Distill Recent Supreme Court Term, United States Law Week, October 29, 1996.
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  � Judge Easterbrook’s sentiments were shared by the authors of many writers of law review articles at that time.  E.g., Hobbs, supra note 140; Sajevic, supra note 140; and Wilhide supra note 140.


  � Michael A. Pope, Punitive Damages: Where Do We Go From Here?, U.S. Business Litigation, December, 1996.


  � The relevant Green Oil factor states that “the duration of the conduct, the degree of awareness of any hazard which his conduct has caused and is likely to cause, and any concealment or ‘cover-up’ of that hazard, and the existence and frequency of similar past conduct should all be relevant in determining the degree of reprehensibility.”


  � Both opinions involved challenges to the constitutionality of large punitive damage verdicts.  Although the Court laid down methods for assessing whether a punitive damage award was excessive, the Court failed to hold that either award violated substantive due process.  Neither case directly analyzed the reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct as a section of in and of itself.    


  � Green Oil states that “if the actual or likely harm is slight, the damages should be relatively small.  If grievous, the damages should be greater.”


  � Richard Thornburgh, Want to Win a Big Suit?  Go to Alabama.  Changes are Needed; Just Look at the Damages it’s Handed Down, USA Today, June 27, 1996.  Note that Georgia awarded $7,489,023, Tennessee awarded $5,086,020, and Mississippi awarded $3,750,268.  Id.


  �  Torts and Personal Injury: Tort Reform, West’s Legal News, October 23, 1995.  Jury Verdict Research is a research organization that collects and analyzes information pertaining to jury verdicts and settlements rendered in personal injury cases.  Jury Verdict Research is located in Horsham, Pennsylvania.


  � Thornburgh, supra note 174.
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  � Dale Russakoff, Legal War Conquers State’s Politics; In Tort Reform Fight, Alabama Court Race Cost $5 million, The Washington Post, December 1, 1996.


  � Id.


  � Id.


  � Quillen Interview, supra note 12.


  � Note that Quillen hypothesized that anyone could relate to being defrauded by a scheme in which a corporation lined their pockets with the extra money it had received by selling used items as new.  Indeed, Dr. Gore’s attorneys at the trial court level likened the case to outlet shopping, where companies discount defective merchandise.  Quillen Interview, supra note 12.


  � Nathan C. Prater, Punitive Damages in Alabama: A Proposal for Reform, 26 Cumb. L. Rev. 1005, 1014 (1995-1996).


  � George L. Priest, Punitive Damages Reform: The Case of Alabama, 56 La. L. Rev. 825 (1996). 


  � Id. at 825-826.


  � Id. At 825


  � The information in this section that pertains to Alabama political history is from Russakoff, supra note 174.


  � Trial attorneys supported candidates that were against tort reform, while business political action committees funded candidates that supported tort reform.


  � Russakoff, supra note 178.
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  � Id.


  � Id.
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  �  Daniel Becker and Malia Reddick, Judicial Selection Reform: Examples from Six States, American Judicature Society (2004).


  � Russakoff, supra note 178.
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  � Alabama Court Slashes Punitive Award in Case Involving Repainted BMW Car, The Wall Street Journal, May 12, 1997.


  � Bolt Interview, supra note 24.
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